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Our singular focus on our 
most profitable and stable 
investments has already begun 
to bear fruit, with EKH not 
only meeting but surpassing 
management expectations and 
budget targets. 

Moataz Al Alfi
Chairman
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Our founder, Mr. Nasser Al-Kharafi was 
a leader, a partner, a mentor and an 
inspiration to all who knew him. His 
great affection for Egypt translated into 
his vision for potential investment and 
the growth of a country he considered 
his second home. In 1997, he took the 
initiative to establish our company and 
thanks to his insights and expertise, 
EKH has since flourished to become a 
leading investment group in Egypt and 
the MENA region.  

Nasser M. Al-Kharafi
Founder of EK Holding
(1943- 2011)

In Honour of a Business Legend
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EKH at a Glance 

Egypt Kuwait Holding Company (EKHO CA on the 
Egyptian Exchange and EKHOLDING on the Kuwait 
Stock Exchange) was founded in 1997 by a consortium 
of prominent Kuwaiti and Egyptian businessmen  Over 
the past two decades, the company has established itself 
as one of the MENA region’s leading and fastest-growing 
investment companies, cultivating a diversified portfolio 
of investments that spans 19 companies and a wide 
variety of sectors, including fertilizers and petrochemi-
cals, energy, cement production, insurance, information 
technology, transport and infrastructure  The past 
decade in particular has seen the company flourish as 
the countries of the Arab world began to liberalize their 
economies, opening doors for private sector investments 
in strategic sectors that had once been off limits 

Our portfolio of companies currently employs over 4,000 
people and has the potential for ongoing job creation as 
companies and investments mature  As long-term inves-
tors, we take pride in growing the businesses in which 
we invest and positively contributing to the economic 
growth of the region  

EKH has deployed its resources in a manner that has 
largely shielded the company from the full impact of the 
social and economic upheaval that has characterized its 
operating environment during the past five years  The 
company’s ability to drive revenue growth and margin 
expansion across its investment portfolio is a testament 
to the resilience of its strategy and the dedication of its 
management teams  
 

While maintaining the growth and profitability of its 
investments, EKH also recognizes the importance of 
being a responsible investor and leading by example  
The company works to minimize the environmental 
impact of all its business operations and promotes the 
conversion of businesses and households to natural gas 
through its investment in NatEnergy, a leading Egyptian 
gas distribution business  

Through its ongoing support for Injaz Egypt, an organiza-
tion working to bridge the gap between the education 
system and the private sector, EKH has positively 
impacted 400,000 Egyptian students in more than 451 
public schools and 21 universities in 26 governorates 
since 2003 

19 
investments in strategic sectors, 
ranging from fertilizers and 
petrochemicals to energy, 
building materials and 
insurance

USD 1.0 bn 
total assets

c. USD 256.1mn 
paid-in capital

> 4,000 
professionals employed by 
the holding company and its 
subsidiaries

> 15% 
average ROE in the past 10 years

USD 401 mn 
total equity book value

c. USD 889 mn 
cumulative net profit [2005-16]
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Chairman’s  
Note

For the past year we have 
focused on restructuring 

our portfolio and 
increasing our stakes in 

high profile assets

Dear Stakeholders, 

Looking back on the past year, it is undeniable that all 
businesses operating in Egypt were confronted with 
the grueling task of carrying on amidst extremely 
challenging and unstable macroeconomic conditions, 
the rippling effects of which touched EKH’s invest-
ments across the board  The massive devaluation of 
the Egyptian pound, shortage in foreign currency, 
and hyperinflationary environment all put strains on 
our businesses in various ways  I am proud to report 
that we not only persevered these challenges but 
continued to outperform despite them, posting both 
top and bottom-line growth year-on-year, upholding 
the standards that we have consistently delivered 

Our response in the face of these economic issues was 
simple: adaptation  The nature of our business gives 

us unique flexibility to restructure our assets in a 
manner that allows us to continue driving growth and 
generating profits  

Throughout the events of 2016 we called on the 
wisdom and expertise of our capable management 
team for guidance, creating a plan that capitalized on 
our strengths  Our ability to shift focus to the aspects 
of our business that can continue to drive robust 
growth most notably Sprea and NatEnergy, has played 
a vital role in our success over the past year  

Lastly, I want to thank our valued Board for their 
continued support, as well as each and every member 
of the EKH team for their hard work, loyalty and 
dedication under difficult circumstances   

Going forward, 2017 will be a year where all busi-
nesses operating in Egypt try to adapt to the new 
economic realities set forth by the government’s 
ambitious reform agenda  There is no doubt that 
the new exchange rate regime and the prevailing 
inflationary environment will require a critical period 
of adjustment for all businesses operating in Egypt  
However, I am confident that EKH’s proven resilience 
will allow us to continue driving revenue momentum 
and healthy margin across the board  

Our target for 2017 is to achieve growth in excess of 
the impact of these economic challenges, a target that 
will be made possible through unlocking operational 
improvements in our existing assets, growing our 

Moataz Al Alfi
Chairman of the Board and CEO

foreign currency receipts for existing businesses and 
expanding the businesses where we hold a market 
niche and unique competitive advantage  
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CEO’s  
Note

With 2016 being a year characterized by volatility and 
an unstable macroeconomic environment, we can only 
look back on EKH’s performance across our investment 
portfolio with extreme pride  The year saw us leverage 
our carefully calculated and executed strategy to hedge 
against market challenges, capitalize on high-growth 
industries, and continue to drive value for our sharehold-
ers   

Overall, our net profit in FY 2016 grew 72% y-o-y to USD 
74 6 million on revenues of USD 351 2 million, up a solid 
24% y-o-y  Our operating margins expanded over five 
points for the full-year despite a devaluation that saw the 
Egyptian pound lose more than 50% of its value against 
the US dollar by year’s end, a shortage of foreign cur-
rency, and persistent inflation running at a near-record 
high  Of total revenues, Sprea constituted 33% and 
NatEnergy 20%  Both these companies have locked their 
positions as essential growth drivers for EKH, resiliently 
delivering strong results in the face of extremely chal-
lenging circumstances  In addition to producing healthy 

financial results, they also delivered on the operational 
front and implemented a number of cost-cutting and 
efficiency measures    

Sprea’s venture into producing sulfonated naphthalene 
formaldehyde (SNF) has proven exceptionally fruitful, 
contributing some USD 10 2 million to Sprea’s top-line 
in 2016  We are on track to expand our SNF production 
capacity from a current 66 ktpa to 88 ktpa as early as the 
first quarter of 2017, allowing us to capture a larger share 
of the market and serve unmet demand that is otherwise 
satisfied through imports  Sprea is also pursuing regional 
opportunities with a target of expanding into African 
markets and growing export revenues to 50% by 2019  
Sprea is also aggressively expanding its core profit, 
Formica, with additional production capacities slated to 
come online in 2H2017  

With over 1 million customers, NatEnergy has grown 
to become the leading private sector gas distributer in 
Egypt   Consistent gas supply and healthy client growth 

translated into an overall improvement in performance 
in 2016  In the second quarter of the year, we followed 
through on our previously communicated strategy of 
buying out minority shareholders in key investments, 
completing the acquisition of an additional stake in 
NatGas that brought the company’s total ownership to 
84%  Throughout 2016, NatGas connected more than 71 
thousand homes and 377 industrial clients to the grid, 
and with LPG prices expect to rise, we expect to continue 
to see this number grow  

Also a major component of our success and contributing 
38% of overall revenues in 2016, AlexFert has consider-
ably surpassed expectations, doubling revenues y-o-y 
and delivering strong margin expansion following its 
return to full factory utilization after an almost year-long 
hiatus in 2015  The past year saw us finalize an agree-
ment with the Egyptian government that guarantees us a 
consistent gas supply, and with overall higher utilization 
rates and rising USD-denominated urea prices, we are 
extremely optimistic about AlexFert 

With Egypt’s economy undergoing significant changes 
that look to favor energy plays and manufacturers using 
domestic inputs to bolster the export industry and create 
import substitutes, EKH is poised to reap the benefits 
and continue to do well in the years to come  As for 
2017, I am confident EKH will carry on with its efficient 
deployment of resources in the most prudent and 
profitable way  I also strongly believe management will, 
as it has done time and again, prove it has the strategic 
insight and skillset to allow EKH to maneuver the chal-
lenges facing Egyptian businesses today, capitalize on 
them to the company’s benefit, and consistently deliver 
real value to our shareholders 

Sherif El-Zayat
CEO

USD 74.6 mn 
net profit FY16

USD 351.2 mn 
revenues FY16

62% 
y-o-y increase in net profits FY16

24% 
y-o-y increase in revenues FY16

2016 saw us hedge 
against market 
challenges, capitalize on 
high-growth industries, 
and continue to drive 
value for shareholders
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EKH – A History 
of Excellence

1998
EKH established gas distribution company NatGas, 
and the following year it acquired a stake in Egyptian 
insurance company Delta Insurance  A year later, 
Fayoum Gas Co  was established in partnership 
with Royal Dutch Shell and Gail India  In 2002, EKH 
acquired a majority stake in Egyptian Glass Company 
(EGC) through a joint venture with Guardian Indus-
tries  The stake was eventually divested in 2009 to 
Guardian Industries  

2003 
EKH saw several milestones, with Nubaria Gas, 
Kahraba, and AlexFert being founded during the year  
EKH also acquired in 2003 11 75% in the Egyptian 
Fertilizer company, but the stake was divested in 
2005  In 2006, the company established Gas Chill, 
providing world-class cooling and heating solutions, 
and the Egyptian Tanker Company for crude marine 
transport  

2007
EKH increased  its capital through a c  USD 100 
million rights issue and in 2014 closed a USD 110 
million capital increase via the issuance of new 
shares, bringing paid-in capital to USD 243 9 million  
2007 also saw the establishment of Building Materials 
Industry company and the acquisition of Sprea Misr 
and its subsidiary Plastichem  A year later, EKH 
entered a joint venture agreement with Tokio Marine 
to establish Nile Takaful and Nile Family Takaful, with 
Nile Takaful eventually being divested in 2013 

2010
EKH founded holding company NatEnergy, bringing 
five leading energy and gas distribution companies 
under its umbrella: NatGas, Fayum Gas, Nubaria Gas, 
Kahraba, and Gas Chill  Today NatGas, Fayum Gas 
and Nubaria Gas together hold a 16% market share in 
Egypt  

2016
EKH has become one of the fastest growing compa-
nies in the Middle East and Africa, with investments 
in 19 companies and total assets worth c  USD 1 1 
billion  As long-term investors in the region, the com-
pany plans to continue to unlock assets’ operational 
improvements, expand the businesses where it holds 
a market niche and unique competitive advantage, 
and contribute to the economic growth of the region  

Founded in 1997 by a Kuwaiti-Egyptian consortium, including former 
Chairman and prominent businessman Nasser Al-Kharafi, EKH has 
a two-decade history in the MENA region as a leading investment 
company with a proven track record of excellence in numerous fields 
such as fertilizers and petrochemicals, energy, cement, insurance, IT, 
transport, and infrastructure. 
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•	 Divestiture of Nile Takaful and Shabakat
•	 Investment in a global infrastructure fund management company
•	 EGM approves capital increase through a c  USD 110 million rights 

issuance
•	 BMIC reaches full production capacity
•	 Launch of first phase of Sprea Misr’s expansion plan with the Formica 

sheet, and power glue plants begins production
•	 Return on equity in USD hits 7%
•	 Closure of USD 110 million capital increase via issuance of new shares, 

bringing paid-in capital to USD 243 9 million
•	 Now Formica line begins trial operations
•	 NatGas is awarded a contract to connect 150,000 households to the grid
•	 EHC starts commissioning at the end of 2014, and utilization rates reach 

a promising +85% in 1Q 2015
•	 EKH obtains approval to double Kahraba’s performance to 80 MW and 

allocates funds accordingly
•	 EKH signs a number of MoUs to explore projects near the New Suez 

Canal
•	 Sprea Misr doubled its capacity to produce Formica bringing total
•	 annual capacity to c  1 8 million sheets
•	 Reaches agreement with the Ministry of Agriculture for AlexFert to 

supply the local (subsidized) market with approximately 31,000 tons/
month of urea fertilizers

•	 AlexFert commences operations 
•	 Establishment of Egyptian Tanker Company
•	 Establishment of Gas Chill 
•	 Capital increase through a c  USD 100 million 

rights issue
•	 Acquisition of Sprea and Plastichem 
•	 Acquisition of a controlling stake in Fayum Gas 

through a joint venture with GAIL India
•	 Establishment of Building Materials Industry 

Company (BMIC)
•	 Establishment of Nile Takaful and Nile Family 

Takaful as a joint venture with Tokio Marine
•	 Divestiture of EGC to Guardian Industries
•	 Establishment of NatEnergy
•	 Investment in the Egyptian Hydrocarbon Corporation
•	 Acquires US nitrogen fertilizer company
•	 BMIC begins operations  

•	 Company founded by a consortium of prominent 
Kuwaiti and Egyptian businessmen, including 
former Chairman Nasser Al-Kharafi

•	 Establishment of NatGas 
•	 NatGas commences operations
•	 Initial acquisition of a significant stake in Delta 

Insurance 
•	 Fayum Gas Co  established in partnership with 

Royal Dutch Shell and Gail India
•	 Fayum Gas awarded its first concession
•	 Acquisition of a majority stake in the Egyptian 

Glass Company (EGC) through a joint venture with 
Guardian Industries

•	 Establishment of AlexFert 
•	 Acquisition of 11 75% in the Egyptian Fertilizer 

Company 
•	 Acquisition of a minority stake in Fayum Gas 
•	 Establishment of Nubaria Gas 
•	 Establishment of Kahraba 
•	 Acquisition of an additional stake in Delta Insurance
•	 Participated in the bidding process to acquire 100% 

of EFC, which ultimately led to the divestiture of 
the stake

2015 - 2016

Milestones

•	 Commissioning of the 
Egyptian Hydrocarbons 
Corporation (EHC), with full 
handover to EHC underway

•	 Acquiring additional 18% of 
NatGas raising EKH owner-
ship to 75%

•	 Deconsolidation of Oil & Gas 
business 

•	 Sprea commences 
production of Sulfonated 
Naphthalene Formaldehyde 
(SNF) with design capacity of 
66,000 tpa

•	 Acquiring additional 9% of 
NatGas, raising EKH owner-
ship to 84%

•	 EKH stock added back as an 
EGX 30 constituent

2013 - 20142006 - 20121997 - 2005
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An Eye on 
Growth

EKH’s two-pronged strategy 
going forward is to focus on ex-
panding its export footprint while 
continuing to pursue investments 
in successful businesses.

Egypt Kuwait Holding’s investment and growth strategy 
has throughout its history been to focus on acquiring 
businesses with both an established foothold in their 
industries and promising long-term fundamentals  
Using a carefully calculated strategy of capitalizing on 
high-growth industries and investing in businesses with 
solid market positions, EKH has managed to not only 
dodge prevailing market challenges but continued to 
outperform  
 
EKH’s strategic plan for 2017 will not only see the 
company continue to invest in local businesses with 
large, defensible market positions, but to target invest-
ments with access to key export markets, such as the 
US and Europe, and expand its export capabilities  The 
company is set to reap the benefits of the Egyptian 
economy favoring energy plays and manufacturers using 
local inputs to bolster the export industry and create 
import substitutes  

EKH will also continue to drive organic growth in the 
companies it holds while exploring targeted investment 
and acquisition opportunities with diverse products 
across several industries, particularly import substitute 
plays with solid cash-flow positions  Primarily, the 
company’s strategy is to invest in businesses that can 
take advantage of the current market dynamics in an 
effort to maximize value for shareholders  

Market Overview 
Throughout most of 2016, net international reserves 
ranged between USD 16-17 billion, which was almost 
half the levels seen prior to the uprising of 2011  The 
insufficient foreign currency supply coupled with 
what was then an overvalued EGP (pegged in March 
2016 at EGP 8 78 to the USD after a 13% devaluation 
by the central bank) hampered Egypt’s competitive-
ness  Foreign currency withdrawal limits also severely 
impacted businesses operating locally, forcing them to 
source funds from the parallel market, which contin-
ued to see USD rates at a significant disparity from 
official ones, reading record lows of EGP 19 00  

Meanwhile, inflation was on the rise, compounded by 
parliament’s approval of a 13% VAT rate (rising to 14% 
in 2017) in August that was part of the government’s 
commitment to a program endorsed by the Interna-
tional Monetary Fund (IMF) for a three-year, USD 
12 billion Extended Fund Facility  In October, urban 
consumer price inflation hit 13 6%, unhampered by 
the Monetary Policy Committee’s successive interest 
rate hikes throughout the year  

In November, the Central Bank of Egypt (CBE) 
implemented the historic float of the EGP while 
increasing lending rates to funnel foreign currency 
back to official channels  In the same month, the 
IMF board approved the three-year fund facility 
dispersed over several phases including reviews on 
easing subsidies for the wealthy, transitioning to cash 
subsidies, promoting higher and inclusive growth, and 
seeking new external financing  Immediately follow-
ing the float, the government increased administrative 
fuel prices approximately 30-40% as the first phase of 
a multi-year program to eliminate energy subsidies 

The reforms, while expected to cause short-term 
growing pains, are poised to position Egypt for 
medium- to long-term growth as inflation eases and 
monetary policy loosens  The drop in the EGP’s value 
comes with a boost in competitiveness, with investors 
already showing interest  Further economic reform 
will only work to pull investment in further, with an 
improvement in the overall economic environment 
sending ripples of progress through to the entire 
business community  
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Management 
Discussion & Analysis 

2016 was a year of adaptation, not just for EKH but for 
every business operating in Egypt  The government 
had a tall order to tackle, including a high budget 
deficit, acute shortages in foreign currency — due to an 
ailing tourism sector, weakened remittances, and low 
FDIs and Suez Canal revenues — and rising inflation  
Combined, these painted a macro landscape of cost 
hikes, shortages, and reduced profitability for the 
business sector  

EKH performance  
In FY 2016, EKH reported revenues of USD 351 2 million, 
up 24% y-o-y and yielding a bottom-line of USD 74 6 
million, a solid 72% increase compared to FY 2015  The 
improved performance in both the quarter and full-year 
results comes thanks to EKH’s prudent investment 
strategy, which has seen the company restructure its 
asset base with a view to maximizing profitability and 
unlocking new shareholder value  EKH’s diverse holdings 
have not only allowed the company to weather a volatile 
macroeconomic environment in Egypt, but also seen it 
capitalize on the opportunities it presented 

To combat these economic headwinds and pave the 
way for stability, the government put together an 
intrepid economic reform program that included the 
float of the Egyptian pound (EGP), a measured lifting 
in energy subsidies, reform of the investment law, and 
the rollout of a value-added tax (VAT)  The basket of 
reforms has necessitated that businesses adopt care-
fully calculated strategies and look for ways to adapt to 
the new challenges  

Total Revenues*  
(USD mn) 

Net Profit after Minority Interest 
(USD mn) 

Total Assets  
(USD mn) 

2012 2012 20122014 2014 20142015 2015 20152013 2013 20132016 2016 2016

* 2014 figures have been restated to account for asset impairments 
related to the Company’s oil operations.
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Highlights 
of 2016 

Our ability to shift focus to the aspects of our business that can 
continue to drive robust growth, most notably Sprea and NatEnergy, 
has played a vital role in our success over the past year. Total 
revenues for FY 2016 showed a 24% improvement y-o-y to USD 351 
million, significantly impacting profitability and boosting our net 
profit by 62% to USD 74 million.
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The Fertilizer  
& Petrochemical

The Fertilizer & Petrochemical segment turned in 
a strong performance in FY 2015 with a 51% y-o-y 
increase in revenues to USD 251 6 million, while net 
profit grew three-fold to USD 38 8 million  Bottom-line 
profitability for the full year improved seven percentage 
points, booking a 15% net profit margin  Natural gas 
availability during the course of 2016, in contrast to 
frequent interruptions during the first nine months 
of 2015 due to a nationwide shortage, saw AlexFert 
operate at near-full utilization rates and restore its 
normal levels of contribution to the segment’s revenues 
and profitability  Meanwhile Sprea Misr continued to 
capitalize on its position as an import substitute with a 
growing export footprint 

Despite the devaluation of the Egyptian pound during 
Q4 2016 and the subsequent translation effect on Sprea’s 
financial statements, the company posted 22 3% y-o-y 
revenue growth in US dollar terms to USD 115 9 million  
Meanwhile, efforts to substitute imported raw materials 
with local alternatives reflected positively on bottom-line 

profitability with net profit climbing 76 7% to USD 28 7 
million in FY 2016 

Sales of formaldehyde urea (an anti-caking additive used 
in the fertilizer industry) and sulfonated naphthalene 
formaldehyde (SNF, an additive for ready-mix concrete) 
continue to grow supported by Sprea’s strengthening po-
sition as an import substitute particularly in light of the 
Egyptian pound’s float  Meanwhile, the methanol-based 
industry’s high barriers to entry within the domestic 
market afford the company increased leverage in passing 
on price hikes to consumers and in turn protecting 
margins  In that regard, Sprea continues to explore 
opportunities to control costs and potentially expand 
its product offering by supporting domestic suppliers 
who are producing imported raw materials, building on 
its previous success of backing a domestic supplier to 
develop Kraft paper, an important production input for 
Formica sheets, resulting in a double-digit reduction of 
its cost structure on that product  

Meanwhile, AlexFert witnessed a turnaround in per-
formance during FY 2016 thanks to a consistent supply 
of natural gas, with utilization rates averaging 85-90% 
compared to 40-45% in FY 2015  Full-year revenues 
almost doubled to USD 135 6 million with net profit 

posting USD 10 1 million compared to a loss of USD 3 7 
million the previous year 

Management remains confident that improved utiliza-
tion rates are sustainable on the back of several factors, 
namely improved natural gas production from existing 
concessions, new natural gas discoveries expected to 
come online by year-end 2017, and an overall shift in 
Egypt’s energy mix that is freeing up gas allocation 

to industry  Additionally, pursuant to the company’s 
agreement with the Egyptian government, failure to 
deliver the required volumes activates a compensation 
clause by EGAS  With regards to urea prices, the trend is 
expected to maintain an upward momentum on the back 
of anticipated demand from European and US markets 
ahead of their application season coupled with limited 
supply from producers in China and North Africa 

Financial Highlights

in USD mn unless otherwise indicated Q4 2015 Q4 2016 % Change FY 2015 FY 2016 % Change

Revenues 46.8 63.7 36% 166.9 251.6 51%

     Gross Profit Margin 27% 29% 2 ppt 18% 26% 8 ppt

     EBITDA Margin 32% 28% -4 ppt 23% 28% 5 ppt

Net Profit 7.5 9.2 23% 12.6 38.8 209%

     Net Profit Margin 16% 14% -2 ppt 8% 15% 7 ppt

Net Profit attributable to EKH 5.0 7.0 41% 14.9 32.5 119%

Revenues  
(USD mn) 

Total Urea Sales  
(Tons) 

FY2015 166.9

FY2015 179,175

FY2016 251.6

FY2016 516,141
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Energy & Energy  
Related

The Energy & Energy-Related segment reported a 19% 
y-o-y decrease in revenues in FY 2015, as the company 
halted installations during the quarter and partly due 
to the Egyptian pound’s float in November 2016 and 
its effect on NatGas and Fayum’s EGP-denomination 
financials  Despite the sharp decline in revenues, 
bottom-line profitability significantly improved in FY 
2016 with net profit margin gaining seven percentage 
points to reach 39%  The marked improvement is owing 
to EKH’s treasury function’s established cash manage-
ment strategy which leveraged an efficient cash cycle 
to maximize interest income  Meanwhile, following the 
increase in NatEnergy’s stake in NatGas — in line with 
EKH’s strategy to acquire minority interests — at-
tributable net income for the year climbed 13% y-o-y to 
USD 23 7 million  NatEnergy had increased its stake in 
NatGas to 74% in August 2015 and to 84% in Q2 2016, 
with a target of reaching 90% through the buyout of 
another minority shareholder 

NatGas along with other private and public players 
in the market is currently negotiating with the gov-
ernment to increase installation fees as a means of 
adjusting to the new EGP:USD exchange rate follow-
ing the float  NatGas has thus opted to halt installa-
tion during Q4 2016 until a new pricing agreement 
is reached  On a full-year basis, NatGas connected a 
total of 72,237 clients in FY 2016 compared to 99,060 
thousand clients the previous year 

Heading into 2017, the company will initially focus 
on individual infill clients as it awaits new pricing 
on bulk government contracts  Management still 
maintains its target of installing 120,000-150,000 
clients by year-end 2017, having already secured raw 
materials for 180,000 clients and at favorable prices  
With liquefied natural gas (LNG) and compressed 
natural gas (CNG) prices on the rise, and a doubling 
in liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), management 
expects a significant acceleration in the pace of 
business going forward and aims to double its c  1 
million connected clients within five years 

Meanwhile, Kahraba’s contribution to attributable 
net profit stood at EGP 18 3 million in FY 2016, up 
34 5% y-o-y, mainly thanks to the company’s linking 
of the price of electricity to that of its feed-in natural 
gas, which is priced in USD, and the consequent 
increase in electricity prices following the devalu-
ation of the Egyptian pound  New signed contracts 
with total capacity of 25 MW and the firm’s efforts 
to target the commercial sector as a new market op-
portunity will drive future growth and profitability 

Financial Highlights

in USD mn unless otherwise indicated Q4 2015 Q4 2016 % Change FY 2015 FY 2016 % Change

Revenues 21.9 10.0 (54%) 86.9 70.7 (19%)

     Gross Profit Margin 36% 34% (2 ppt) 35% 38% 3 ppt 

     EBITDA Margin 37% 49% 12 ppt 34% 38% 4 ppt

Net Profit 7.3 5.5 (24%) 27.3 27.8 2%

     Net Profit Margin 33% 56% 23 ppt 31% 39% 7 ppt

Net Profit attributable to EKH 5.7 4.9 (14%) 21.0 23.7 13%

Revenues  
(USD mn) 

FY 2015 86.9

FY 2016 70.7
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Outlook
The nature of EKH’s business as an investment compa-
ny affords it the flexibility to utilize – or rearrange, if 
necessary – its resources in the best way possible with 
the aim of maximizing shareholder value  Heading 
into 2017, EKH will continue to invest in businesses 
that can capitalize on the current economic condi-
tions, pushing for organic growth while keeping an eye 
for new investment and/or acquisition opportunities  

While management remains watchful of the current 
volatility in the Egyptian macro environment – par-
ticularly with regards to the devaluation of the EGP 
against the USD – EKH adopts a strategy that targets 
growth in excess of the impact of the economic chal-
lenges, whether through on-the-ground operational 
improvements or the buyout of minority shareholders  
Looking ahead, we expect to grow our foreign cur-
rency receipts for existing businesses and to expand 
the businesses where we hold a market niche and 
unique competitive advantage  

Sprea: Going forward, Sprea’s growth will be driven 
by expanding its regional footprint, with a particular 
focus on African markets, as well as investments in 
new businesses complementary to its current opera-
tion  SNF expansion plans remain on track with an 
additional 22 Ktons in production capacity earmarked 

Diversified

In FY 2016, the Diversified segment reported 
revenues of USD 29 0 million, up 1% y-o-y, and 
net profit of USD 6 3 million, up almost two-fold 
compared to the USD 3 3 million booked in FY 
2015 

Revenues  
(USD mn) 

FY 2015 28.8

FY 2016 29.0

for the first quarter of 2017, and management is 
considering a new SNF plant with 88 Ktons capacity, 
mostly for export after covering the local market, as 
it seeks to capture c  7-8% of the region’s USD 350:400 
million SNF market  Meanwhile, the board of directors 
has signed-off on Sprea’s MDF project which aims to 
capture supply gaps in the Egyptian market as well as 
extract additional value from the company’s existing 
products — namely glue which constitutes 30% of 
MDF’s raw materials 

AlexFert: With the company now receiving its full 
natural gas allocation — guaranteed by the settlement 
agreement with the GOE — AlexFert is on track to 
regaining its market position and delivering growth 
and profitability to the group, further supported by 
recovering urea prices 

NatEnergy: The key asset within the energy and 
energy-related segment, NatGas, is geared to deliver 
long-term organic growth as it capitalizes on the 
GOE’s energy reform program and plan to double 
grid-connected — 700-800 thousand households per 
annum  Upon finalization of a new pricing agreement 
the company will push through with expanding its 
client base, targeting an additional 120,000-150,000 
clients by year-end 2017 
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Investment 
Portfolio  

EKH is a hands-on investor seeking majority stakes and 
management control of its investments.

Key assets:
•	 AlexFert
•	 Sprea Misr

Key assets:
•	 NatEnergy

•	 NatGas
•	 Fayum Gas
•	 Nubaria Gas
•	 Kahraba
•	 Gas Chill

Key assets:
•	 Building Materials 

Industries Company
•	 Delta Insurance
•	 Al-Shorouk for 

Melamine and Resins
•	 Globe Telecommuni-

cations
•	 Bawabet Al Kuwait 

Holding Company

Fertilizer & Petrochemicals
With over 10 years of nitrogen fertilizer and petrochemical expertise, 
EKH’s investments cover a wide range of the industry’s value chain 
from urea, ammonium nitrate, and melamine to formaldehyde and 
liquid and powder glue  EKH’s strategy in this segment is to target 
investments with access to key export markets, including the US and 
Europe, and diverse products across several industries, particularly 
import substitute plays with strong cash-flows 

Energy & Energy-related
Investments in this line of business cover the energy value chain, with 
key activities of portfolio companies including building and operating 
gas distribution networks (including the transport of natural gas to 
power stations and the independent production of power)and local 
and global marine transport of crude oil and petroleum products  

Diversified
This segment encompasses a wide array of strategic investments 
from cement production, telecommunications and infrastructure to 
insurance  Our strategy is to invest in local businesses with large and 
defensible market positions  

of FY2016 Group Revenues

of FY2016 Group Revenues

of FY2016 Group Revenues

72%

20%

8%
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Fertilizer  
& Petrochemicals 

EKH has investments in two operational companies 
in the Fertilizers & Petrochemicals Segment:
Alexandria Fertilizers Company (AlexFert) and 
Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics 
Company  The company’s Fertilizers & Petrochemicals 
investments encompass products ranging from urea, 
ammonium nitrate, and melamine, to formaldehyde 

and liquid and powder glue  The company has more 
than a decade of nitrogen fertilizer and petrochemical 
expertise, with its strategy in this segment being to 
target investments with access to key export markets, 
including the US and Europe, and numerous products 
in several industries, particularly import substitute 
plays with strong cash-flows  

2012-2016 Consolidated Revenues 
(USD mn) 

AlexFert 
(Ammonia, Urea Fertilizer, 
and Ammonium Sulfate 
Plant) 

Sprea Misr 
(Chemicals Plant) 

Effective 
Ownership

Effective 
Ownership

2012-2016 Consolidated Gross Profit 
(USD mn) 

2012

2012

2014

2014

2015

2015

2013

2013

 AlexFert  Sprea Misr

 AlexFert  Sprea Misr

2016

2016

31
0

19
5

71
17

21
5

11
1

78
23

14
6

53

94
24

72
2

95
27

13
6

24

11
6

42

37.8%

100%
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Alexandria Fertilizer 
Company

AlexFert was established in 2003 by EKH as a greenfield 
project with an authorized capital of USD 500 million 
and paid-in capital of USD 249 million  AlexFert began 
operations in 2006 and has since positioned itself as a 
leading Egyptian producer of fertilizers and urea 

The company’s plant is optimally located in Alexandria 
with access to export markets in Europe and the US 
and utilizes a strong distribution strategy with limited 
reliance on offtake agreements (c  90% of the company’s 
production is exported to Europe and the US with c  10% 
of production directed to the domestic market) 

AlexFert’s 452 employees operate out of a 101,000 square 
meter factory in Alexandria that is ISO 9001/2008 and 
ISO 14001/2004 certified  In 2013, AlexFert established 
a new ammonium sulfate production line as part of a 
major push for operational expansions  The new line 
has an annual capacity of roughly 165,000 tons per year  

AlexFert is set to benefit from the Egyptian government’s 
new pricing system, which links the price of natural gas 
to the price of urea, safeguarding the company against 
negative swings in both natural gas and urea pricing 

EKH directly and indirectly holds c  38% of AlexFert 
through its majority shareholding stake (42%) in 
Bawabet Al Kuwait Holding, which allows EKH to exert 
management control in AlexFert 

2016 Developments
•	 The company has begun receiving its full natural 

gas allocation after almost a year-long hiatus due 
to gas shortages, with utilization hitting c  90% at 
year-end 2016  

•	 Consistency in natural gas supply was guaranteed 
by an agreement reached with the government that 
requires EGAS to incur a fine should it fail to deliver 
sufficient volume to run the plant at design capacity  

USD 135.6 mn 
total revenues in FY 2016

396 ktpy 
ammonia capacity

452 
employees

37.8 % 
directly and indirectly owned 
with management control

USD 32.3 mn 
EBITDA in FY 2016

635 ktpy 
urea capacity

USD 23.7 mn 
gross profit in FY 2016

165 ktpy 
ammonium sulphate capacity 

A subsidiary of AlexFert, the International Petrochemical Invest-
ments Company (IPIC) is an Egyptian joint-stock company 
established in 2012 with authorized capital of USD 1 billion and 
paid-in capital of USD 100 million  IPIC seeks to invest and acquire 
promising companies in the fertilizer and petrochemical industry, 
both within Egypt and abroad  

International Petrochemical 
Investments Company
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Sprea Misr

Founded in 1989 and acquired by EKH in 2007, Sprea 
Misr has emerged as one of the largest manufacturers 
and exporters of petrochemicals and plastics in Egypt 
due to the careful management and oversight of EKH, 
which holds a 100% stake in the company 

Sprea Misr produces top-of-the-line urea, melamine, 
and formaldehyde products at its factory complex in 
10th of Ramadan City  Our 41,439-square-meter facili-
ties have a combined 270 kiloton production capacity  
Flagship products include molding compounds, glues 
and resins, as well as new production lines of Formica 
sheets and powder glue launched in 2013  Our Formica 
plant is strategically planned to replace imports, with 
capacity currently at around 1 8 million sheets per 
annum at the end of 2016 — double its initial capacity 
at inception in July 2013 

With specialized production facilities and a unique 
range of petrochemical products, Sprea Misr is the 
trusted supplier of large and small companies alike 
both in Egypt and abroad, enjoying a healthy market 
share across its product lines in Egypt thanks to 
unmatched pricing, quality and after-sales service 

Sprea Misr has implemented an aggressive growth plan 
that led to expansion into new markets, such as the For-
mica sheet plant, while the roll-out of a cost reduction 
program has further enhanced margins  The company’s 
array of products enables it to target several industries 
including fertilizers, plastics, pharmaceutical, textile, 
automotive, construction, industrial manufacturing, 
and water treatment, while production flexibility allows 
Sprea Misr to change production lines to capitalize on 
demand changes or short-term price increases  As a 
whole, the petrochemical has significant barriers to 
entry given industry know-how, providing the company 
with an additional competitive advantage 

Sprea has been certified by international cement 
producers, becoming part of the international supply
chain and opening the gates to new export opportuni-
ties  Egypt’s strategic geographic location facilitates 
Sprea Misr’s exports, which currently span more than 
38  countries in Africa, the Middle East, Europe and 
Latin America  Exports account for more than 35% 
of total sales, with plans to expand its international 
footprint going forward 

USD 116.0 mn 
total revenues in FY 2016

38 + 
export countries worldwide

USD 42.4 mn 
gross profit in FY 2016

270 kiloton 
combined production capacity 

USD 38.3 mn 
EBITDA in FY 2016

Over 85 % 
market share in Egypt

+ 20 % 
of revenues are from export 
sales

100 % 
owned by EKH

2016 Developments
The company began production of sulfonated 
naphthalene formaldehyde (SNF), an additive for 
ready-mix concrete and a major growth driver in the 
cement industry in Q1 2016  The SNF line is currently 
producing 66 ktpa and is on track to expand it to 88 
ktpa by Q1 2017  As SNF is not otherwise produced in 
Egypt, and with the relatively low CAPEX investment 
required to start production, Sprea is positioned as a 
cost-effective local supplier ready to capitalize on the 
growth of the cement and real estate industries and 
the drive for import substitution at the national level  
The venture contributed USD 10 2 million to Sprea’s 
top line in 2016  
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Energy  
& Energy-Related

Egypt Kuwait Holding has investments in two com-
panies in the Energy and Energy-Related Segment:
NatEnergy and the Egyptian Tanker Company (ETC)  
EKH builds and operates gas distribution networks in 
Egypt through its 100%-owned subsidiary NatEnergy, 
which covers a wide spectrum of activities, including 
connecting households and industrial clients to the 

natural gas grid as well as the independent production 
of power  The company’s energy investments also 
include a local and global marine transport of crude oil 
and petroleum products through ETC  Previous invest-
ments included the company’s Oil & Gas operations, 
which were deconsolidated as of Q1 2016 

2012-2016 Consolidated Revenues 
(USD mn) NatEnergy 

(Gas Distribution Business 
Holding Company)

ETC 
Egyptian Company for 
Petroleum Transport 
(Shipping Company)

Effective 
Ownership

Effective 
Ownership

2012-2016 Consolidated Gross Profit 
(USD mn) 

2012

2012

2014

2014

2015

2015

2013

2013

2016

2016

67
22

65
20

81
29

87
30

71
27

100%

30%
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NatEnergy 

Established in 2010, NatEnergy is EKH’s wholly-owned 
holding company with five leading private sector energy 
and gas distribution plays under its umbrella: NatGas, 
Fayum Gas, Nubaria Gas, Kahraba, and Gas Chill  
The company’s operations cover a wide spectrum of 
activities, such as building and operating gas distribu-
tion networks, connecting homes to the national grid, 
transmitting natural gas to power stations, providing 
district cooling services, and generating electricity   

Covering over 1 million customers in Egypt through 
its diverse range of activities, NatEnergy has an expert, 
nuanced understanding of the natural gas industry, 
helping it strategically invest in profitable business seg-

ments and provide professional support, financing and 
business management to its subsidiaries  The company 
is looking to double the number of customers it serves 
in Egypt over the next five years 

The company also has strong strategic partnerships 
with global players such as Shell, Gail India and 
Petroleum Gas Co  (PETROGAS), and significant 
room for growth in the market considering 5 million 
new customers are likely to be connected throughout 
the market in the next five years  NatEnergy holds a 
competitive advantage in the industry due to signifi-
cant barriers to entry, with investments totaling an 
unmatched EGP 2 2 billion 

C. 625 
industrial clients 

21 
PRS

5,618 km 
of pipes

1,473
MCM/year

2 
power stations 

18  
CNG Stations

C. 1.1 mn 
household clients

99 
residential resorts

> 6,000 
commercial clients 

> 16 % 
market share in Egypt 
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Nubaria Gas
Nubaria Gas was established in 2003 to build a steel 
pipeline to supply natural gas to the West Nubaria power 
station, one of the largest power generation projects in 
Egypt producing 2,250 MW of power  Nubaria Gas cur-
rently transports roughly 9 6 million m3 of gas per day for 
a distance of 43 KM from Tanta to Nubaria via a 24-inch, 
70-bar, high-pressure steel pipeline that is maintained 

Fayum Gas
Fayum Gas is a natural gas distribution company estab-
lished in 2000 by Shell Gas BV to finance, construct, oper-
ate, maintain and develop the natural gas system in the 
Fayum governorate  In 2007, EKH partnered with Gail India 
to acquire a 78% majority stake in the company, which later 
became a part of the NatEnergy group  The company oper-

ates three concessions in Fayum, where it is responsible 
for the construction, maintenance and operation of the 
natural gas distribution network for the entire governorate  
Fayum Gas serves over 150,000 domestic customers, 900 
commercial and 35 industrial clients, four CNG stations 
and distributes c 250 MCM of natural gas per year  

and operated by the company  The Nubaria power 
station also includes two steam turbines that use waste 
heat from the gas for combined cycle power generation  
Nubaria Gas operates both PRS and steel pipelines using 
the supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) 
system, allowing full control over every aspect of the gas 
transmission process 

NatGas
Established in 1998, the National Gas Company (NatGas) 
is the core of NatEnergy’s gas distribution portfolio and 
the largest contributor to the company’s revenue since 
inception  The company provides services including the 
construction, operation and maintenance of natural 
gas transmission, networking and distribution lines 
to domestic, commercial and industrial customers  
NatEnergy currently holds an 84% stake in NatGas, with 
plans to buy out another minority shareholder bringing 
its total ownership stake up to 90%  

NatGas has been awarded nine concessions to date, with 
the widest geographic coverage among all private sector 
gas distribution companies in Egypt  Covering Beheira, 

Cairo, Giza, West Alexandria, Sixth of October and Borg 
El Arab, NatGas has invested c  EGP 1 8 billion to develop 
infrastructure in its concessions since inception  As of 
year-end 2016, NatGas had connected over 1 1 million 
households, 700 industrial and 8,000 commercial clients 
to the grid 

With almost two decades of experience in the market, 
NatGas has honed its gas distribution capabilities and 
gained immeasurable know-how in managing turnkey 
projects, implementing gas transmission and distribu-
tion networks and handling their operations and mainte-
nance to the fullest satisfaction of every customer 
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Gas Chill
Gas Chill was established in late 2006 to provide 
world-class cooling and heating solutions using ground-
breaking Japanese and European technology  The only 
private sector player in the district cooling industry in 
Egypt, Gas Chill’s core objective is to provide the most 
revolutionary, environmentally friendly energy supply 
techniques, not only in Egypt but the MENA region  
Partnering with Japanese Kawasaki Thermal Engineering 
and Italian ROBUR, Gas Chill is a one-stop-shop offering 
pre-sales and value engineering; installation, com-
missioning and testing; project, operation and facility 
management; and after-sales services for its innovative 
energy solutions, products and services  Acting as the 
exclusive agent for Kawasaki Thermal Engineering in 
Egypt, the company leverages its know-how to give 
clients a competitive edge in their markets by tailoring 

solutions to meet their current and future cooling 
requirements  Gas Chill also offers its clients several 
financing options including: build, own, operate (BOO), 
build, own, operate, transfer (BOT), as well as engineer-
ing, procurement, construction (EPC)   

In just over 10 years, Gas Chill has built a solid track re-
cord and developed an impressive roster of high-profile 
clients, including: Cairo Festival City, Eastern Company, 
Arkan Mall, Americana Plaza Sheikh Zayed and New 
Cairo, Concord Plaza New Cairo, Misr University for 
Science and Technology, and the General Authority 
for Investment  With new investments being pumped 
into mega projects across the country like the New 
Administrative Capital, Gas Chill has vast potential for 
growth in Egypt 

Kahraba
Established in 2004 as an EKH greenfield investment, 
Kahraba is licensed by The Egyptian Electricity Regula-
tory Authority to generate, distribute and sell electricity 
to third parties all over Egypt  Kahraba builds, owns, 
operates and maintains power generation stations, 
substations and distribution networks that provide 
energy solutions to a diverse mix of industrial and com-
mercial clients in Egypt  The company’s services support 
the full cycle of power generation facilities, delivering 
intelligent technical solutions that offer cost savings and 
added value 

Kahraba is only one of two private sector companies 
licensed and connected to the Egyptian power distribu-
tion grid and the Egyptian Electricity Transmission 
Company (EETC)  Kahraba is also the only company 
licensed to distribute and sell electricity to the commer-

cial building sector, as well as being the only approved 
seller of electricity to farms located in the Wadi El 
Natroon region 

Kahraba has undertaken a number of large-scale projects, 
including the new American University in Cairo campus 
in New Cairo and the gas-powered 34 MW central power 
plant in the Borg Al Arab district  The company currently 
generates an annual 250 million kwhr from four power 
plants with a total capacity 45 MW as of 2016 and total 
investments of EGP 700 million YTD serving 15 clients in 
diversified sectors and industries   Its current distribution 
network stretches 66 4 KM   Expansion plans are under-
way to reach the company’s 75 MW generation capacity 
and 100 KM network by the second half of 2017, with a 
goal to reach generation capacity of 125 MW by 2020 
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Egyptian Tanker 
Company

The Egyptian Tanker Company (ETC) is an Egyptian 
joint-stock, free-zone company focused on providing 
local and global marine transport services to companies 
and entities in the field of exporting and importing 
crude petroleum and its derivatives across Egyptian and 
international ports 

The company was founded in 2006 with an authorized 
capital of USD 150 million and USD 50 million in paid-in 
capital  It seeks a leading market share in the promising 
crude oil and petroleum transportation sector in Egypt 
while maintaining a considerable presence in the sector’s 

international market  EKH currently holds a 30% stake in 
ETC, which it acquired upon establishment in 2006 

ETC acquires, charters and operates a wide variety 
of ships, in particular petroleum carriers, while also 
running activities of shipping agencies, providing 
all services complementary and correlated to this 
industry  In 2011, ETC acquired a new tanker named 
ETC Isis, bringing its fleet of vessels to three tankers 
alongside ETC Ramsis and ETC Nefertari, which 
were acquired in 2010, all of which have a combined 
capacity of 250,000 tons 

USD 51.1 mn 
current equity book value 

30% 
owned by EKH

Almost 100 % 
of the company’s revenues are 
denominated in USD

 The National Shipping Company 25%

 Middle East Company for Cistern and Oil Pipe Lines (Medtab) 13% 

 Petroleum Marine Services Co. (PMS) 13% 

 National Bank of Egypt 7.5% 

 Banque Misr 7.5% 

 EGPC 4%

EKH’s Partners in ETC
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Diversified Segment

Egypt Kuwait Holding’s Diversified segment includes 
a wide array of strategic investments, from cement 
production, telecommunications and infrastructure to 
insurance  In line with the company’s strategy to invest 
in local businesses with large and defensible market 
positions, EKH owns c  30% of the Building Materials 

Industries Company (BMIC) in Egypt, a country home 
to the largest cement market in Africa, with total 
consumption of c  50 mtpa  Other group assets in the 
sector include Delta Insurance, Al-Shorouk for Melamine 
and Resins, Globe Telecommunications, and Bawabet Al 
Kuwait Holding Company 

BMIC 
Building Materials 
Industries Company 
(Cement Plant)

Delta Insurance 
Delta Insurance (Life 
and General Insurance 
Company)

Effective 
Ownership

Effective 
Ownership30.03% 32.03%
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Building Materials 
Industries Company

Founded in 2007 as a greenfield investment, and 
with total investments exceeding EGP 2 billion, 
BMIC produces grey cement and clinker for sale in 
the Egyptian market, particularly Upper Egypt  With 
state-of-the-art technology of European and German 
origin and products that meet Egyptian and interna-
tional standards, BMIC distinguishes itself from less 
sophisticated local competition, producing 1 8 mil-
lion tons of cement per year at its mazut and natural 
gas powered factory and satisfying market needs by 
providing high-quality services and products 

As one of two key players in the region, BMIC benefits 
not only from minimal competition in Upper Egypt 
but also has licenses for some of the best, darkest 
quarries in Egypt, a crucial source of raw materials 
for cement production 

The Egyptian cement market is ready for further 
consolidation as there are a number of smaller local 
players competing with the largest multinationals in 
the market, which combined have a c  27% market 
share, while the market is by far the largest in Africa 
with a total consumption of c  50 mtpa (double the 
consumption rates in South Africa, which is the 
second-largest cement market in Africa)  BMIC is 
on track to complete its conversion to coal-fired 
generation by 2017, as well as expanding the factory 
to potentially add a second production line to boost 
capacity to better address the chronic deficit in 
Egypt’s cement market 
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Delta Insurance

Delta Insurance is a publicly listed company and has 
grown steadily over the years to secure roughly a 5% share 
of the Egyptian insurance market  With over 300 profes-
sionals operating more than 19 branches, the company 
has built a strong competitive position in the Egyptian 
market, providing financial protection through innovative 
insurance products and services supported by dedicated, 
well-trained and knowledgeable insurance professionals 

The company offers numerous services, including cor-
porate solution plans, individual protection plans, and 
group life insurance plans  While many sectors in Egypt 
have suffered in the aftermath of the 2011 uprising, the 
insurance industry has experienced opportunities for 
growth as more companies and individuals seek to pro-
tect themselves amid a higher risk environment 

In July 2013, Delta Insurance was divided into two com-
panies with two distinct boards of directors, per Egyp-
tian law: Delta General, which provides medical, fire, 
vehicular and marine insurance, and Delta Life, which 
provides traditional life insurance products  Both com-
panies cover a range of local and foreign corporations 
and individuals, but Delta General’s largest clients are 
corporate, while Delta Life primarily serves individual 
customers  Delta Insurance also engages in reinsurance 
with leading local and global partners 

Delta Insurance was established in 1981 with EGP 150 
million in authorized capital and EGP 90 million in 
paid-up capital, and was acquired by EKH in 1999  The 
acquisition of an additional significant stake in 2004 
brought the company to an effective ownership of 32% 

Al-Shorouk for 
Melamine and Resins

Founded in 1979 under the name Al Sherif and with 
authorized capital of EGP 250 million and paid-in 
capital of EGP 38 million, Al Shorouk was acquired by 
EKH in 2007  Already a successful and well-established 
tableware manufacturer, Al Shorouk has flourished 
under EKH’s ownership 

Thanks to synergies with Sprea Misr, an EKH portfolio 
company specializing in urea and melamine products, 
Al Shorouk receives a reliable supply of high-quality 
raw materials at affordable prices, distinguishing Al 
Shorouk from foreign competitors 

Al Shorouk is a standout among local competition 
for its commitment to health and safety  Unlike many 
local manufacturers who use less expensive, carcino-
genic urea, Al Shorouk’s tableware is made from 100% 

melamine and clearly labeled to help consumers make 
safe purchasing decisions  This consumer confidence 
has greatly contributed to Al Shorouk’s 10% market 
share for melamine tableware and 77% market share 
for urea trays, as well as strong brand recognition in 
the Egyptian market 

The company produces urea trays and melamine 
tableware using two separate production lines with a 
combined 86 presses and overall production capacity 
of 3,000 tons per annum  

From its production facilities in Belbeise, Al Shorouk 
supplies all hypermarkets in Cairo and distributes 
products across Alexandria and cities in Upper Egypt 
and the Nile Delta  The company’s export activities 
focus primarily on the Middle East and Africa 
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Global Infrastructure Fund 
Management Company

Globe 
Technologies

Bawabet Al Kuwait 
Holding Company

I Squared Capital announced the closure of the ISQ 
Global Infrastructure Fund in April 2015, with total 
commitments of USD 3 billion  The marketing process 
was completed over 15 months, with more than 45 
investors from North America (31%), Europe (27%), 
Australia (17%), the Middle East (15%), and Asia 
(10%), while c  70% of the investors were pension 
funds, superannuation funds, and sovereign wealth 

Globe Technologies (GT) specializes in providing 
technology systems geared toward facilitating busi-
ness operations  The company was established as a 
greenfield investment in 2001 and is 100% owned by 
EKH  It currently has operations in Egypt, conducts 
in-house software research and development and has 
partnerships with leading international firms such as 
Intergraph, Psion and TomTom 

Established in 2004 with both an authorized and 
paid-in capital of KWD 50 million, Bawabet Al Kuwait 
Holding Company (BKH) is poised to become a major 
investor in the fertilizer and petrochemical sector  

GT is the sole and exclusive partner of Intergraph in 
Egypt and has agreements with PGESCO, in addition 
to being the main supplier for Enppi’s Engineering 
Software 

funds, with insurance companies, asset managers and 
family offices covering the balance 

The fund focuses on global infrastructure opportuni-
ties in diverse sectors of high-growth economies, 
maintaining a robust pipeline of investment opportu-
nities in the US, Europe, China, and India  EKH has an 
effective ownership of 15% 

BKH has ownership stakes in AlexFert and other 
petrochemical companies in the Gulf Cooperation 
Council (GCC)  EKH currently holds a 42% stake in 
Bawabet Al Kuwait, which it acquired in 2004 

Bawabet Al Kuwait
Holding Company

بوابة الكويت القابضة
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Corporate 
Governance

EKH promotes ethical practices across all levels of its 
businesses, protecting the interests of all stakeholders 
and ensuring a responsible working environment for 
employees  EKH assesses its policies and performance 
with respect to its Business Principles; Code of Conduct; 
Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE) 
policies; and major issues of public concern on behalf of 
the Board  

Our corporate governance policies and practices are 
guided by internationally recognized standards such as 
the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance 

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors oversees EKH’s business 
strategy and affairs and appoints from among its 
members a Managing Director responsible for 
implementing Board decisions and EKH executive 
actions  

The Board members, who are comprised of both 
executive and non-executive directors, have a range 
of qualifications, expertise, and experience, and was 
each considered for their ability to add value to the 
company  Our Board comprises 19 members and 
includes one Chairman and one Executive Director 
responsible for carrying out all executive tasks and 
responsibilities 

There are various mechanisms for Board interaction 
with shareholders and employees, including recom-
mendations, upper-level directives, and communica-
tion with various departments throughout EKH and 
its subsidiaries  The Board sets up corporate and 
departmental plans to inform shareholders and help 
realize EKH’s goals  Results and progress are followed 
up by the Board Chairman through monthly, quar-
terly, and semi-annual progress reports submitted to 
the Board  

Board Committees
EKH’s Board of Directors is able to oversee all 
Corporate Governance activities of the Group and its 
subsidiaries through four committees:

•	 The Internal Audit Committee
•	 The Investment Committee 
•	 The Communication Committee
•	 The Remuneration Committee (includes Senior 

Executives at EKH) 

Risk Management
The Group manages its exposure to credit, liquidity, 
market, and capital management risk through the 
Audit and Internal Audit Committees  Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures; the results are 
then reported to the Board of Directors 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establish-
ment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework  The Board is also responsible for iden-
tifying and analyzing the risks faced by the Group, 
setting appropriate risk limits and controls, and 
monitoring risks and adherence to limits  

Management aims to develop a disciplined and con-
structive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations 

Transparency
EKH is thoroughly committed to transparency and 
disclosure practices  The Internal Audit Committee 
ensures that the company is fully transparent and in 
full compliance with the requirements of the Egyptian 
Exchange (EGX), on which EKH is listed  The Commit-
tee is composed of four members, comprising three 
non-executive Board Members and one expert  The 
Audit Committee is responsible for investigating and 
revising EKH’s internal control procedures and levels of 
compliance; it also enacts precautionary measures to 
maintain the safety and stability of the company’s assets, 
and ensures the removal of any potential conflicts of 
interest  The Audit Committee has also established an 
Internal Audit Department for EKH and its subsidiaries  
The role of this department is to review all EKH activities 
and activities of its subsidiaries, and to submit regular 
reports to the Internal Audit Committee and Board of 
Directors 

Audit and Internal Control Review Committee 
(AICRC)
EKH has allocated an Audit Committee that is made up 
of three non-executive board members and one special-
ized non-board member  The principal functions of the 
Audit and Internal Control Review Committee (AICRC) 
are to oversee the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements and ensure compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements  The Committee also monitors 
the adequacy of the company’s accounting and financial 
reporting, its internal control processes, and financial 
reporting processes  Further, the AICRC is responsible 
for the independence and evaluation of the external 
auditors it appoints 

Internal Auditing
Internal auditing improves business processes that will 
result in an increase in stakeholders’ value, as well as 
reducing risks and improving revenues  EKH’s internal 
auditing ensures that good governance is implemented 
and maintained  It also guarantees that effective busi-
ness processes, values, and goals are established and 
communicated and that the implementation and 
accomplishment of those goals are monitored to ensure 
accountability 

Investment Committee
The basic function of the Investment Committee is to 
communicate investment guidelines and evaluate, ap-
prove, and monitor existing investments at the Group or 
business unit level  The committee screens and evaluates 
ideas generated from rainmakers and assigns the M&A 
team with due diligence of the short-listed ideas, while 
providing guidance and following up throughout the 
transaction  The meeting is held on a quarterly basis 

Communication Committee
The communication committee provides an avenue 
through which department heads can communicate 
the status of existing projects and projects in progress  
The committee has a number of core objectives, includ-
ing keeping the management team informed about 
developments in all projects, providing a platform for the 
exchange of ideas among management,  allowing for the 
discussion of outcomes of subsidiary board meetings, 
and sharing knowledge gained from conferences and 
exhibitions  The meeting is held on a quarterly basis and 
follows the Investment Committee meeting 
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Board of Directors

Mr. Moataz Al-Alfi
Chairman of the Board and CEO

Mr  Al-Alfi is the CEO and Chairmain of the Board at Egypt Kuwait Holding  In 
addition to his role at EKH, he is Chairman of Americana Group–Egypt; Board 
member of the Cairo Poultry Company; Founder and Chairman of Al-Alfi Foun-
dation for Human and Social Development; Member of the Board of Trustees of 
the American University in Cairo and the Magdi Yacoub Heart Foundation 

Mr. Loay Jassim Al-Kharafi 
Vice Chairman of the Board

Mr  Al-Kharafi serves as Vice President of Mohamed Abdulmohsin Al-Kharafi 
and Sons Group; Chairman of Al-Mal Investment Co ; Vice Chairman of Kuwait 
Pipe Industries and Oil Services Co , Egypt; Chairman of International Pipe 
Industries Co , Egypt; Chairman of EMAK for Hotels and Tourism Development 
Co , Egypt; and Vice Chairman of MAK Holding for Investment Co , Egypt  He is 
also the owner of a legal firm and a member of the Kuwaiti Lawyers Association 

Mr. Abdel Mohsen Al-Fares
Board Member

Mr  Al-Fares is Chairman and Managing Director of Kuwait Lebanon Holding 
Company  He also serves on the Board of Directors at MTC Vodafone, Kuwait 
Telecommunications and Consultancy Information Group 

Mr. Sherif El-Zayat
CEO

Mr  El-Zayat brings to EKH a wealth of experience in a wide cross-section of rel-
evant industries  He was until recently founder and chief executive of Misr Glass 
Manufacturing Co  (MGM), having previously worked as Managing Director and 
Deputy Chairman of Al-Ahram Beverages Co  Mr  El-Zayat is a member of the 
Board of Directors of the Chamber of Chemical Industries (part of the Federation 
of Egyptian Industries) and serves as Chairman of its Diversified Chemicals 
Division, while he has also served as a board member of the Egyptian Chemical 
and Fertilizers Export Council since 2008 

Mr. Saad Al-Saad
Board Member

Mr  Al-Saad is Chairman and Managing Director of National Industries Group 
Holding Company and Managing Director of MABANEE  He serves as Chairman 
of the Board of Eagle Proprietary Investments Limited and as a member of 
the Board of Directors at Seera Investment Bank  Mr  Al-Saad is former Vice 
Chairman and Board member of Kuwait National Petroleum Company (KNPC), 
former Vice Chairman of Contracting & Marine Services, and former Chairman 
of the Kuwait Association of Accountants & Auditors  He previously served on 
the Board of Directors at the Gulf Cable & Electrical Company, Kuwait Cement 
Company, National Bank of Kuwait, Kuwait Aviation Fuelling Company (KAFCO), 
Saudi Sand Lime Bricks & BM Company, the Higher Council for Planning and 
Delta Insurance Company 

Mr. Marzouk Al-Ghanim
Board Member

Mr  Al-Ghanim serves as Chairman of Boubyan Petrochemical Company and 
Kuwait Sports Club, Vice Chairman of Ali Thanyan Al-Ghanim and Sons Group, 
and CEO of Al-Ghanim and Sons Automotive Company  He is also a member of 
the Board of Directors at National Gas, Egypt; Jebail Chemical Industries, Saudi 
Arabia; Quality Net Company, Kuwait; Globe Telecom, Egypt; and Investment 
House, Kuwait 
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Mr. Hussein Al-Kharafi
Board Member

Mr  Al-Kharafi is Managing Director of Khalid Ali Al-Kharafi & Bros  Company and 
Chairman of the Kuwait Industrial Union  He is also a member of the Board of Direc-
tors at the Chamber of Commerce & Industry, a member of the Public Authority of 
Industry, and a member of the Board of Trustees at the Australian College of Kuwait 

Mr. Talal Jassim Al-Kharafi
Board Member

Mr  Al-Kharafi is the Chairman of Gulf North Africa Holding Company–Kuwait; 
Vice Chairman of Heavy Engineering Industries & Shipbuilding Co –Kuwait; 
Board Member of Kuwait Chamber of Commerce & Industry–Kuwait; Board 
Member of Asia Capital Investments Company–Kuwait; Former Board Member 
of The Industrial Bank of Kuwait 

Mr. Ayman Laz
Board Member

Mr  Laz is Director and Advisor to the Chairman at Egypt Kuwait Holding  He 
has been associated with the Al-Kharafi Group for over 30 years and with Egypt 
Kuwait Holding Company since its inception  Prior to his association with EKH 
and the Al-Kharafi Group, Mr  Laz worked with the Chase-National Bank, where 
his last position was Credit Manager  Mr  Laz has served on the Board of Direc-
tors of a leading state-owned Egyptian bank, an international joint venture bank 
operating in Egypt and Telecom Egypt  He also served on the Board of Trustees 
for Investment in Egypt and on the Board of Directors of The Egyptian Center 
for Economic Studies (ECES)  Mr  Laz has served and continues to serve on the 
Boards of Directors of leading Egyptian private sector companies operating in 
a number of key industries  He holds a degree in Economics from the American 
University in Cairo 

Sheikh Mubarak Abdulla Al-Mubarak Al-Sabah
Board Member

His Excellency Mr  Al-Sabah is Group Vice Chairman at Action Group Holdings 
Company (KSCC) Kuwait, Founder of Action Real Estate Company (AREC), 
Chairman of Action Hotels W L L , Founding Chairman of Al Qurain Petrochemi-
cal Industries Company KSC, and Chairman of Kuwait-Austria Business and 
Friendship Association (KABFA)  He is also Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Trustees at the Abdullah Mubarak Foundation, a member of the Board of Direc-
tors at Equate Petrochemicals Company, and was honored as a Young Global 
Leader (YGL) in 2009 by the World Economic Forum 

Eng. Amin Abaza
Board Member

Mr  Abaza is Chairman of the Arab Cotton Ginning Co ; CEO of Modern Nile 
Cotton Company; President of the Cotton Exporters Association; Member of the 
Board of Directors of the Egyptian General Authority for Investments; Minister of 
Agriculture and Land Reclamation, Arab Republic of Egypt, 2006-2011 

Mr. Assad Al-Banwan
Board Member

Mr  Al-Banwan is Chairman of Mobile Telecommunications Company KSC 
(Zain), Kuwait; Chairman of Zain, Jordan; Chairman of Seera Bank, Bahrain; 
Chairman and Managing Director of Foras International Investment Co , KSA; 
Chairman of the Union of Investment Companies, Kuwait; Vice Chairman of 
Zain, Bahrain; Vice Chairman of Gulf Cable & Electrical Industries Company 
KSC, Kuwait; Vice Chairman of Gulf Investments, KSA; Vice Chairman of the 
Business Owners Union; and Vice Chairman of Al Mutahed, KSA  He is also a 
member of the Board of Directors at Zain; Holland, Iraq and Lebanon 

Mr. Husam Mohamed El-Sayed
Board Member

Mr  El-Sayed is the Executive Director of Al-Khair National For Stocks & Real 
Estate Co –Kuwait, the investment arm of Al-Kharafi Group; Chief Financial 
Officer of Al-Kharafi Group in Lebanon and Syria; Chairman of RYMCO UK LTD–
London; Board Member of Al-Nasr Gardens Holding–Kuwait; Board Member of 
Rasamny Younis Motor SAL (RYMCO)–Lebanon; Executive Board Member of 
United Insurance Company SAL (UIC)–Syria; Board Member of Kharafi Cham for 
Utilities Development LLC–Syria; and Board Member of the National Company 
For Plastic Industries WLL–Syria  Mr  El-Sayed was previously Chairman of 
Menajet Holding SAL–Lebanon and was a Board Member of First National Bank 
SAL (FNB)–Lebanon 
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Sheikh Fahd Hamed Abdulah El Sabah
Board Member

Mr  Al-Sabah is currently a business analyst serving under the Business Develop-
ment and Mergers and Acquisitions department at Alghanim Industries  His 
responsibilities include identifying, assessing, and recommending potential 
opportunities in different sectors within the region  Moreover, Mr  Al-Sabah 
assists other business units adopt the optimal strategy that aims to support 
their growth and expansion within Kuwait and abroad  Prior to his current role, 
Mr  Al-Sabah assisted in the Financial Planning and Analysis department in 
consolidating, analyzing and reporting the company’s financial performance 
using industry specific KPI’s across all businesses  Mr  Al-Sabah holds a Bachelor 
of Science in Finance from Kuwait University 

Eng. Shamel Hamdy
Board Member

Eng  Hamdy is the head of Egypt Kuwait Holding’s Oil and Gas division  His vast 
experience in the petroleum sector saw him occupy a number of high-ranking 
positions at many reputable institutions, including the Egyptian Petroleum 
Ministry, where he served as First Undersecretary to the Minister for nine 
consecutive years  Eng  Hamdy then joined SUMED, where he was Chairman 
and Managing Director of the firm  Prior to joining Egypt Kuwait Holding  Eng  
Hamdy was the Senior Vice President of Operations and Projects at Trident 
Petroleum in Egypt  He holds a degree in Oil Company Management, which he 
received from Montreal University’s Business school in 1988 

Mr. Mohamed Kamel
Board Member

Mr  Kamel is Chief Executive Officer of the Egyptian Resorts Company (ERC)  
Prior to joining ERC, he spent eight years with KATO Investment, one of Egypt’s 
largest and most diversified industrial and services conglomerates  Mr  Kamel 
held several roles in different divisions of KATO, including sales and marketing, 
operations and project management, business development, and finally group 
Vice President of Strategy at KATO Investment’s headquarters  While at KATO, 
he was instrumental in creating the first modern privately-held, bonded ware-
house at Cairo International Airport, and managed the debt-raising process from 
European banks for the aerospace division  Mr  Kamel also worked as a consul-
tant with Bain & Company in their London offices following his MBA  Mr  Kamel 
holds a Bachelor’s in Economics with high honors from the American University 
in Cairo and an MBA with distinction from Harvard Business School 

Mr. Marzouk Nasser Al-Kharafi
Board Member

Mr  Al-Kharafi is the Chairman of Kuwait Food Company (AMERICANA)–Ku-
wait; Chairman of Kharafi National Infrastructure Projects Development, Con-
struction and Services Co –Egypt; Chairman of Kharafi National Co –Bahrain; 
Chairman of Utilities Development Co  (UDC)–Kuwait; Chairman of Egyptian 
Company For Utilities Development Co –Egypt; Vice Chairman of Kuwait Syrian 
Holding Co–Kuwait; Vice Chairman of ABJ Industries–Abu Dhabi; Board Mem-
ber of ABJ Engineering & Contracting Co –Kuwait; Board Member of Makhazen 
Co –Abu Dhabi; Partner of Kharafi National–Lebanon; General Manager of 
Kharafi National Co –Abu Dhabi/Dubai; General Manager of Lebanese Utilities 
Co –Lebanon; General Manager of Emirates Utilities Holding Co –UAE; General 
Manager of Quality Technical Supplies Co –Kuwait/Abu Dhabi; General Manager 
of Instant Access Professional & Technical Training Center Co –Abu Dhabi; 
General Manager of Instant Access Co  For Sales & Rentals of Construction 
Equipment–Qatar; Director In the Group Executive Committee of M A  Kharafi 
& Sons–Kuwait; Managing Director of Aluminum Industries Co –Kuwait; and the 
Executive Manager of Kharafi National Co –KSA 

Eng. Hussam Al-Kharafi
Board Member

Mr  Al-Kharafi is the chairman of MAK Investments Group of Companies–Port 
Ghalib, Egypt; Head of Real Estate Sector & Urban Development - Mohammed 
Abdulmohsin Al-Kharafi & Sons Co –Kuwait; Member of the Executive Com-
mittee of Mohammed Abdulmohsin Al-Kharafi & Sons Group–Kuwait; Board 
Member of the National Industries Group (Holding)–Kuwait; Former Chairman 
of Noor Financial Investment Company; Former President of the Kuwait Society 
of Engineers; Former Board Member of Boubyan Bank–Kuwait; Former Board 
Member of Al-Ahleia Insurance Co –Kuwait; Former Board Member of National 
Real Estate Co –Kuwait; and Former Board Member of Mabanee Co –Kuwait 

Eng. Ismail Osman
Board Member

Eng  Osman is Senior Advisor for Osman Ahmed Osman Group; Board Member 
and Secretary General of the Egyptian Business Association; Deputy Secretary 
General for the Federation of Arab Businessmen; Vice President of the Egyptian 
Federation for Construction & Building Contractors; Senior Vice President of 
the Arab Federation for Construction & Building Contractors; Chairman of the 
Local Council, Ismailia Governorate; and Chairman of the Board at the Giza 
Educational Cooperative Society (Misr Language Schools) 
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Management Team

Mr. Moataz Al-Alfi
Chairman of the Board and CEO

Mr. Khaled El-Demerdash
Group Legal Counsel

Mrs. Sahar Farahat 
Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Sherif El-Zayat
CEO

Mr. Mahmoud Moharram
General Counsel International

Mr. Medhat Bonna
Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Ayman Laz 
Advisor to the Chairman and CEO

Mr. Tamer Badrawi
Chief Human Resources & 

Communication Officer

Mr. Ahmed El-Bassiouny
Senior Vice President - 

Investments

Mr. Hany Ezzat
Group Treasurer

Mr. Sayed Hussein
Sector Head – Cement

Mr. Omar Foda
Director - Investments

Mr. Hany Azzam
Head of Corporate Governance

Mr. Alaa El-Banna
Vice President – Special Projects

Mr. Haitham M.Abdel Moneim
Senior Investor Relations Manager

Mr. Elhamy El Sheikh
Sector Head - Gas

Mr. Hisham Samaha
Vice President – Investments
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Our People

Egypt Kuwait Holding’s success would not be possible 
without the diligent effort of more than 5,000 skilled 
and passionate employees at EKH and its subsidiaries  
Recognizing that human capital is the company’s most 
valuable asset, EKH has developed a comprehensive 
approach to human resources that empowers employ-
ees to reach their fullest potential  

EKH’s human resources policies are designed to foster 
a safe and healthy work environment where employees 
have the resources needed to grow and succeed  The 
company’s current structure links Corporate Human Re-
sources with both Human Resource leaders and various 

business units to address business, cultural and work 
environment issues, helping maximize potential and 
encourage organizational efficiency  To ensure that all 
employees’ needs are being met, the Human Resources 
division has also established a wide-ranging system for 
channeling the feedback and thoughts of its personnel 

The company is also committed to attracting and retain-
ing the most qualified candidates for employment to en-
sure that human capital remains a built-in competitive 
advantage  EKH’s Human Resources team are certified 
in the use of DDI Interview Methods, allowing them to 
recruit a continuous pipeline of outstanding talent  

Six Pillars of 
EKH’s Corporate 

Human 
Resources

Organizational 
Effectiveness

People 
Development

Staffing and 
Recruitment

Auditing and 
Reporting

CommunicationEmployee 
Relations
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Corporate Citizenship & 
Social Responsibility 

Egypt Kuwait Holding prides itself on its active involve-
ment in the communities where it does business, 
through practicing sustainable development, focusing 
on improving communities in the emerging economies 
it works in, and playing a vital role in bettering both 
youth education and its accessibility  From educational 
initiatives and contributions to NGOs and charities, EKH 
is deeply committed to ensuring a sustainable future  

Education
Backed by EKH’s belief that education is the corner-
stone of our communities, the company’s flagship 
program in 2016 was subsidiary NatGas’s collabora-
tion with Egyptian NGO So7beit Kheir on their Youth 
Technical Training Program  With NatGas as the 
primary sponsor, the program provides vocational 
training in fields such as mechanics, plumbing, 
and construction for students throughout Egypt to 
provide them with better employment opportunities   

The program trains over 100 secondary and prepara-
tory students per year from some of the least privi-
leged families in the country  To date, 15 students 
have used the program as a springboard to begin 
their university educations and numerous youths 
have gone on to find employment at the companies 
providing the training modules  

2016 also saw EKH donate EGP 25,000 to each of 
Cairo University’s Faculties of Engineering, Mass 
Communication, Commerce, and Law to provide 
tuition for underprivileged students   It also helped 
fund tuition for 5,000 children attending 21 schools in 
surrounding communities in addition to conducting 
renovation work at several schools in the area to 
provide a safer, more accessible learning environ-
ment  

Injaz 
EKH is an active supporter of Injaz Egypt, an 
organization working to bridge the gap between the 
education system and the private sector  This year, 
volunteers from NatGas participated in Injaz’s school 
program, which saw volunteers from the company 
receive training from Injaz to qualify them to educate 
preparatory school students on how to “Discover 
Themselves” and unlock their strengths and ambi-
tions to build their future  

In recognition of the company’s continued support 
of Injaz’s efforts to empower Egyptian youth, EKH 
received the Volunteer Growth Award 2016 during 
Injaz’s annual awards ceremony, which this year 
was themed “500,000 Thanks” in commemoration 
of the organization’s impact on half a million young 
Egyptians  

Community Outreach 
Driven by the company’s commitment to bettering the 
lives of everyone in our communities, EKH also extends 
aid to impoverished settlements and families  The 
company donates EGP 1 million annually to 726 families 
in need over monthly installments and puts together 
annual Ramadan packs, which this year saw the delivery 
of 2,000 essential foodstuff packages during the holy 
month  In addition, EKH provided 2,200 jackets during 
the cold winter months to students in three schools to 
help alleviate the financial burdens on their families  
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Egypt Kuwait Holding Company

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Egypt Kuwait Holding Company S.A.E, which 
comprise the financial position as at December 31, 2016, the consolidated statements of income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of Company’s management. Management is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Egyptian Accounting 
Standards and in the light of the prevailing Egyptian laws, management responsibility includes, designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; management responsibility also includes selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Except as described 
in paragraph (4) in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, we conducted our audit in accordance with the Egyptian 
Standards on Auditing and in the light of the prevailing Egyptian laws. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

(1) The provisions balance, in the consolidated statement of financial position, includes an amount of approxi-
mately USD 13.33 million which does not have a matching obligation out of which, an amount of approximately 
USD 4.71 million has been carried forward from previous years and the remaining amount of approximately 
USD 8.62 million has been formed during the current year. The aforementioned matter has led to a reduction 
in net profit for the year with an amount of approximately USD 8.62, an increase in the provisions balance 
as at December 31, 2016 by approximately USD 13.33 million and a decrease in equity attributable to owners 
of the Company balance by approximately USD 13.33 million. We have issued a qualified auditor’s report on 
the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended on December 31, 2015 for the same reason. 

(2) Starting from 2012, the Company’s management accounts for some available-for-sale investments through 
the early adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standard No. (9) “Financial Instruments” 
despite the fact that accounting for such investments should be made in accordance with the Egyptian Ac-
counting Standard No. (26) “Financial Instruments: -Recognition and Measurement “, the said matter has 
resulted in an increase in the balance of retained earnings with an amount of approximately USD 179.69 
million, the decrease of the fair value reserve balance with an amount of approximately USD 170.87 million 
and also an decrease in the net profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the year with 
an amount of USD 8.76 million. We have previously issued a qualified report on the audit of the con-
solidated financial statements for the financial year ended as at December 31, 2015, for the same reason. 

(3) The Company’s management recognized revenues of approximately USD 14.55 million in the consolidated 
income statement, despite the fact that such revenues are pertaining to previous financial periods, a matter that 
led to an increase in the revenues related to the financial year ended as at December 31, 2016 with an amount 
of approximately USD 14.55 million and an increase in the income tax expense for the year with an amount of 
approximately USD 3.27 million. The aforementioned resulted in an increase in the net profit for the year with an 
amount of approximately USD 11.28 million and decrease in the opening balance of both the retained earnings and 
non-controlling interests with the amounts of approximately USD 9.47 million and USD 1.81 million respectively.  

(4) As indicated in details in note no. (53) of the notes accompanying the consolidated financial statements, the 
Company’s management has not provided us with the  documents pertinent to the fulfilment of the criteria of 
granting all the incentive and bonus plan to the executive members of the board of directors and managers, 
whereby the consolidated income statement was charged by a total amount of approximately USD 17.56 million 
for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 while increasing the shareholders’ equity with the same amount. 
Accordingly, we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to the amounts shown 
in the consolidated financial statements and whether such share incentive plan was in accordance with the 
requirements of the Egyptian Accounting Standard No. (39) as amended in 2015 - “Share–based Payment”.  

Qualified Opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary  
had we been provided with the documents referred  to  in paragraph (4) on the consolidated financial statements  
and the effect of matters described in paragraphs (1) to (3) in the Basis for Qualified Opinion, the consolidated fi-
nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Egypt Kuwait Holding 
Company as at December 31, 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year ended in accordance with the Egyptian Accounting Standards and the Egyptian laws and regulations relating 
to the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
The Company keeps proper accounting records, which include all that is required by law and the statutes of the 
Company, the financial statements, are in agreement thereto, the Company maintains proper costing accounts, 
the Company maintains proper costing accounts, the inventory was counted by management in accordance with 
methods in practice.

The financial information included in the board of directors’ report, prepared in accordance with Law No. 159 of 1981 
and its executive regulations, is in agreement with the Company’s books of account.

KPMG Hazem Hassan  Cairo, March 1, 2017
Public Accountants & Consultants
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Note 31/12/2016 31/12/2015
No.    USD    USD

Assets
Non-current  assets
Equity - accounted investees (7)  63 782 363  155 057 733
Available -for- sale investments (8)  116 953 348  115 930 389
Held to maturity financial assets (9)  113 528 198 -
Property, plant and equipment (net) (11)  221 707 554  267 486 929
Exploration & development assets (12) -  93 594 442
Projects under construction (13)  12 173 378  10 646 031
Goodwill (14)  51 038 635  75 612 858
Other intangible assets (net) (15)  18 205 606  27 307 394
Other debtors (16)   249 714   227 782
Total non-current assets  597 638 796  745 863 558

Current assets      
Cash at banks & on hand (18)  242 186 165  396 867 046
Investment in treasury bills (19)  12 353 745  6 044 646
Held to maturity financial assets (9)  6 259 781 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (20)  15 159 821  112 495 674
Trade & notes receivable (21)  21 277 548  69 566 932
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (10-1)  1 416 404  7 324 260
Debtors & other debit balances (22)  23 164 028  113 119 688
Inventories (23)  46 498 518  67 846 708
Work in progress (24)  7 604 774  8 395 895
Assets held for sale (25)  38 368 005 -
Total current assets  414 288 789  781 660 849
Total assets 1 011 927 585 1 527 524 407

Equity
Issued & fully paid up capital (26)  256 110 292  256 110 292
Legal reserve (27)  123 559 511  121 957 282
Special reserve - share premium (28)  57 954 547  57 954 547
General reserve (29)  8 380 462  8 380 462
Fair value reserve (30),(8) ( 170 395 430) ( 175 271 701)
Amount set aside for share-based payments transactions (31)  17 561 848 -
Retained earnings  325 259 517  299 919 262
Foreign currency translation differences of foreign operations (32) ( 217 373 270) ( 47 179 262)

 401 057 477  521 870 882
Non-controlling interests (33)  224 276 236  269 784 026
Total equity  625 333 713  791 654 908

Non-current liabilities
Long - term loans & bank facilities (35)  119 409 164  123 097 749
Other long-term liabilities (36)   372 908   833 980
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (10-2) -   581 332
Provisions (38) -  4 070 000
Deferred  tax liabilities (37)  26 571 939  29 721 891
Total non-current liabilities  146 354 011  158 304 952

Current liabilities
Provisions (38)  21 448 727  13 827 109
Bank overdraft (39)  4 841 589  42 735 150
Short term loan installments & bank facilities (40)  76 213 486  216 757 972
Suppliers & subcontractors (41)  14 250 675  83 576 453
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (10-2)  23 983 418  15 206 509
Dividends payable  1 037 400  1 037 946
Creditors & other credit balances (42)  98 459 966  204 423 408
Liabilities held for sale (25)   4 600 -
Total current liabilities  240 239 861  577 564 547
Total liabilities  386 593 872  735 869 499
Total equity and liabilities 1 011 927 585 1 527 524 407

*   The accompanying notes on pages from 73 to 118 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.

 Group Chief Financial Officer Senior Executive Vice President Managing Director Chairman & Managing Director

 Medhat Hamed Bonna Sahar Hassan Farahat Sherif Al Zayat Moataz Adel Al- Alfi

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position As at December 31 2016 Consolidated Income Statement For the Financial Year Ended December 31, 2016

Note 2016 2015

 No. USD USD

Operating revenues (43)  343 079 552  257 552 573

Operating costs (44) ( 234 033 205) ( 197 335 278)

Gross profit  109 046 347  60 217 295

Income from investment  activity (45)  18 147 978  22 045 588

Other income (46)  3 117 962  5 225 313

Selling & distribution expenses (47) ( 10 047 583) ( 7 430 756)

General & administrative expenses ( 21 987 663) ( 25 337 194)

Share based payments expense (53) ( 17 561 848) -

Other expenses (48) ( 10 706 484) ( 1 889 670)

Operating profit  70 008 709  52 830 576

Financing income (49)  45 365 481  12 480 601

Financing costs (49) ( 11 349 590) ( 14 232 737)

Net financing income (costs)  34 015 891 ( 1 752 136)

Share of profit of associates  5 275 943  3 579 924

Net profit for the year  before income tax  109 300 543  54 658 364

Income tax expense (50) ( 22 194 762) ( 5 491 552)

Net profit  for the year from continuing operation  87 105 781  49 166 812

Discontinued operations

Gain (loss)  from discontinued operation (net of income tax) (51) ( 10 630 332) ( 3 104 809)

Non-controlling interest shares in the gain from discontinued operation (51) -  3 333 653

Net profit for the year   76 475 449  49 395 656

Net profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company  62 542 790  36 272 437

Non-controlling interests (33)  13 932 659  13 123 219

Net profit for the year  76 475 449  49 395 656

Basic earnings per share (US cent / Share) (52) 5.60 2.52

Diluted earning per share (US cent / Share) (52) 5.33 2.52

Baisc earnings per share (US cent / Share) from continuing operation (52) 6.69 2.84

Diluted earning per share (US cent / Share) from continuing operation (52) 6.37 2.84

*   The accompanying notes on pages from 73 to 118 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows For the Financial Year Ended December 31, 2016

Note No. 2016 2015
USD USD

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit  for the year before income tax 109 300 543 54 658 364

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation & amortization of property, plant and equipment and other non-tangible assets (11),(15) 28 196 641 29 292 658
Exploration & development assets depletion - 8 332 927
Gain on sale of  available -for- sale investments ( 541 489) (4 700 764)
Company's share of profits of associates (7) (5 275 943) (3 013 197)
Unrealized gain on held for trading investments  (45)،(20) ( 865 879) (5 764 420)
Accrued interest & financing expenses 11 349 590 24 027 695
Interest income (13 547 054) (13 052 682)
Capital gain ( 71 321) ( 72 099)
Provisions no longer required (38) ( 85 511) (4 827 414)
Provisions other than depreciation (38) 10 706 484 3 525 109
Reversal of impairment loss on debtors and other debit balances ( 4 593) ( 96 975)
Impairment loss on debtors and other debit balances -  64 561
Share based payments expense (53) 17 561 848 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment -  459 845
Gain (Loss) of disposal of discontinued operations (51) (10 630 332)  228 844
Operating profit before changes in assets & liabilities available from operating activities 146 092 984 89 062 452

Changes in:-
Held for trading investments 103 471 734 97 990 894
Trade & notes receivable 6 475 931 8 043 073
Debtors & other debit balances 17 695 612 (17 341 185)
Inventories 7 380 766 (4 535 863)
Work in progress  791 121 (1 691 608)
Suppliers & subcontractors 3 338 588 28 978 225
Creditors & other credit balances (82 764 816) 5 031 807
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 8 195 577 ( 683 684)
Blocked deposits 35 607 795 (55 607 767)
Time deposits (18) (117 912 482) -
Provisions used (38) ( 351 375) ( 591 162)
Interest & financing expenses paid (11 370 395) (21 465 245)
Net change in assets of unconsolidated subscription due to loss of control (39 363 876) (4 898 417)
Net cash available from  operating activities 77 287 164 122 291 520

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets held for sale - 1 250 000
Interest recieved 15 898 531 11 964 175
Payments for acquisition of  property, plant and equipment & projects under construction (18 392 064) (12 085 091)
Payments for acquisition of exploration & development assets - (53 513 073)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1 067 396  87 402
Proceeds from Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation  5 907 856 7 153 620
Proceeds from sale of  available -for- sale investments 8 568 998 10 745 545
Payments for acquisition of available -for- sale investments (6 080 354) (14 354 197)
Payments for acquisition of investments in associates - (18 148 063)
Payments for  held to maturity financial assets (156 529 603) -
Proceeds from held to maturity financial assets 12 129 571 -
Dividends received from associates 1 712 914  582 914
Payments for investment on treasury bills (more then three months) (19) (44 276 852) -
Proceeds from treasury bills (more then three months) 31 923 107 -
Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operations - 4 577 650
Net cash used in investing activities (148 070 500) (61 739 118)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of long-term loans & bank facilities - (105 686 963)
Proceeds from long-term loans & bank facilities 8 766 257 61 544 528
Proceeds from short-term loans & bank facilities 121 303 885 49 010 533
Repayment of short-term loans & bank facilities (201 192 807) (15 801 926)
Proceeds from bank overdraft  71 512 -
Repayment of bank overdraft (38 153 612) (23 504 322)
Payments for acquisition of non-controlling interests (3 043 968) (15 315 675)
Non-controlling interests 27 719 974 (7 212 601)
Dividends paid (36 824 402) (37 672 544)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares - 4 736 358
Net cash used in financing activities (121 353 161) (89 902 612)
Foreign currency translation differences (51 082 256) 3 930 619
Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the year (243 218 753) (25 419 591)
Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of the year 346 901 181 372 320 772
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (18) 103 682 428 346 901 181

*   The accompanying notes on pages from 73 to 118 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in  Equity For the Financial Year Ended December 31, 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income For the Financial Year Ended 
December 31, 2016

Note 2016 2015
No. USD USD

Net profit for the year   76 475 449  49 395 656
Other comprehensive income items
Net change in fair value of  available -for- sale investments (30)  4 015 369 ( 30 154 906)
Foreign currency translation difference of  foreign operations (32) ( 179 736 331) ( 5 760 669)
Total other comprehensive income items for the year before income tax ( 175 720 962) ( 35 915 575)
Income tax related to other comprehensive income items - -
Total other comprehensive income for the year after income tax ( 175 720 962) ( 35 915 575)
Total comprehensive income for the year ( 99 245 513)  13 480 081
Total  comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ( 102 774 947)  1 265 243
Non-controlling interests  3 529 434  12 214 838
Total comprehensive income for the year ( 99 245 513)  13 480 081

*   The accompanying notes on pages from 73 to 118 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.

1 Background and activities
•	 Egypt Kuwait Holding Company “The Company” was incorporated by virtue of the Chairman of General Investment 

Authority’s resolution No. 197 of 1997, according to the provisions of Investment Law No. 230 of 1989 and according 
to Law No. 8 of 1997, concerning Investment Incentives & Guarantees and Law No. 95 of 1992 concerning Capital 
Market.

•	 The Company was registered in Giza Governorate Commercial Registry under No. 114648 on 20/7/1997. The dura-
tion of the Company according to the Company’s Statute, is 25 years starting from the date of registration in the 
Commercial Registry.

•	 The Company’s financial year starts on January 1st and ends on December 31st each year.
•	 The Company’s purpose is represented in investment in all activities stated in Article 1 of Law No. 230 of 1989, 

provided that its object does not include accepting deposits or performing banking transactions and comprise the 
following activities:- 

 A - Securities underwriting and promotion.
 B - Participation in Companies, which issue securities or increasing their capital.
 C - Venture capital. 

•	 In addition, the Company is entitled to establish other projects or modify its purposes in conformity with the Invest-
ment Law. The Company is also entitled to establish or participate in projects not governed by the Investment Law 
subject to the approval of the General Investment Authority & General Capital Market Authority.

•	 On March 6, 2002 the General Investment Authority gave permission to the Company to use the excess funds in 
investing outside the Arab Republic of Egypt by participating in establishing companies & contributing to projects & 
portfolios of marketable securities managed abroad.

•	 The registered office of the Company is located at 14 Hassan Mohamed El Razaz St.-Dokki - Egypt. Mr. Moataz Adel 
AL-Alfi is the Chairman of the Company.

•	 The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 comprise the financial 
statements of Egypt Kuwait Holding Company (the Parent Company) & its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. The Group is involved in several activi-
ties which are represented in investment activities, selling & supplying of natural gas activity, drilling, petroleum & 
petrochemicals services activity, fertilizers activity, exploration & exploitation of oil, natural gas activity, chill technol-
ogy by natural gas activity, communications and selling & distributing of chemicals & plastic activity, manufacturing 
of Formica chips & MDF of all types and sizes, and the activity of life insurance and responsibilities and properties 
insurance (note No. 3-1-1).

2 Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

a) Statement of compliance
•	 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standards 

and relevant Egyptian laws and regulations.
•	 The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on 

February 28, 2017

b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for the following:-
•	 Derivatives financial instruments measured at fair value.
•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
•	 Available-for-sale investments measured at fair value.
The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note No (2-e).  

Egypt Kuwait Holding Company (An Egyptian Joint Stock Company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the financial year ended December 31,2016
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c) Functional and presentation currency  
The consolidated financial statements are presented in USD, which is the Parent Company’s functional currency.

d) Use of estimates and judgments  
•	 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Egyptian Accounting Standards 

requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and re-
ported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

•	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
•	 Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 

only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods

e) Measurement of fair values
•	 The fair value of financial instruments is measured based on the market value of the financial instrument or a similar 

financial instrument as at the financial statements date without deducting any estimated future selling costs. The 
value of financial assets is determined by the current purchase prices of these assets whereas, the value of financial 
liabilities is determined by the current prices which can be used to settle these liabilities. 

•	 In case of inactive market exists to determine the fair value of the financial instruments, the fair value is estimated 
using the different valuation techniques while considering the prices of the transactions recently made and using the 
current fair value of the other similar financial instrument as a guide significantly – discounted cash flows method - 
or any other valuation method that results in reliable values.

•	 On using the discounted cash flows method as a valuation technique, the future cash flows are estimated based on 
best estimate of management and the used discount rate is determined in light of the prevailing price in market as at 
the financial statements date of similar financial instruments with respect to their   nature and conditions.

3 Significant accounting policies
The accounting polices set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements

3-1 Basis of consolidation  
3-1-1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights 
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

3-1-2 Non-controlling interest   
NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. 

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions.

3-1-3 Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any 
related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest 
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

3-1-4 Interests in equity-accounted investees
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint venture.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the 
financial and operating policies. 

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net 
assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

 Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recog-
nized at cost, which includes transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or 
loss and OCI of equity accounted investees.

3-1-5 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group transac-
tions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. An unrealized loss are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

3-2 Foreign currency 
3-2-1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group companies at 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was deter-
mined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:
•	 available-for-sale equity investments (except on impairment, in which case foreign currency differences that have 

been recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss);
•	 A financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is 

effective.
•	 Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective.

3-2-2 Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisi-
tion, are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated into euro at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the ex-
tent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint 
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. 

When the Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint 
control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3-3 Property, plant and equipment & depreciation
a) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation (3-3-C) and any 
accumulated impairment losses (3-12-b).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant & equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

b) Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 
expenditure will flow to the Group.

c) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated re-
sidual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit 
or loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

Asset Years
Usufruct of lands 25
Buildings of the Parent Company’s premises 50
Buildings & constructions 20 – 50 or according to lease term
Machinery & equipment 3 – 20 
Stations & electric transformers 10
Means of  transportation 4 – 10
Furniture & office equipment 2 – 10
Computer hardware & software and Decorations 3 – 6.67
Air-conditions 4 –  6.67
Tools & supplies 5
Leasehold improvements Over the lower of lease term or estimated useful life

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

3-4 Projects under construction
Projects under construction are recognized initially at cost. Cost includes all expenditures directly Attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for it intended use. Projects under construction are transferred to prop-
erty, plant and equipment caption when they are completed and are ready for their intended use.

3-5 Intangible assets
3-5-1 Goodwill 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Impairment of goodwill is not reversed subsequently. In case of gain on bargain purchase, it is recognized immedi-
ately in the statement of income.

Exploration and development expenses
•	 Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
•	 Development expenditure is capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is 

technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has suf-
ficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amorti-
zation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, patents and trademarks that are acquired by the Group and 
have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

Deferred charges 
Actual costs incurred by the Company while establishing Al Nubaria Electricity station in excess of contractual 
value and were not refunded from the Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) including the amount 
paid as a non- refundable grant. Cost of other assets is amortized using the straight line method over Fifteen years 
starting from pumping the Gas to the station.

3-5-2 Subsequent expenditures
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures are expensed as incurred.

3-5-3 Amortization3-6 Intangible assets
Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill is 
not amortized.

3-6 Financial instruments
•	 The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
•	 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss and other financial liabilities category.

3-6-1 Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities- recognition and disposal
The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the date when they are origi-
nated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such derec-
ognized financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial posi-
tion when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3-6-2 Non-derivative financial assets - measurement
3-6-2-1 Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for-trading or is designat-
ed as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.

3-6-2-2 Held – to – maturity financial assets
These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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3-6-2-3 Loans and receivables
These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method

3-6-2-4 Available for sale financial assets
These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency 
differences on debt instruments, are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the fair value reserve. When these assets are 
derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

3-6-3 Non-derivative financial liabilities - measurement
A financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or is 
designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, 
including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss.

Other non-derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

3-7 Inventories
•	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
•	 The Cost of inventories is based on the moving average principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 

inventories and bringing it to its existing location and condition. Cost of finished goods and work in process invento-
ries includes an appropriate share of production overheads. 

•	 Petrochemicals inventories is valued based on the following basis:
•	 Inventories of purchased supplies, utilities and spare parts, fuel and oil are stated at cost. The cost is calculated based 

on moving average principle. 

Unfinished goods
•	 The cost of work in process is determined based on indirect manufacturing costs till the latest production process 

reached and includes an appropriate share of overheads till the current process.

Finished goods
•	 Inventory of finished products is determined based on the cost or net realizable value which is lower.

3-8 Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.
Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining 
assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred 
tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment property or biological assets, which continue to be measured in ac-
cordance with the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale or 
held-for distribution and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss. 
Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortized or 
depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

3-9 Construction contracts in progress
Construction contracts in progress represents the gross amount expected to be collected from customers for con-
tract work performed to date. It is measured at costs incurred plus profits recognised to date less progress billings 
and recognised losses.

In the statement of financial position, construction contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised 
profits exceed progress billings and recognised losses are presented as trade and other receivables. Contracts for 
which progress billings and recognised losses exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits are presented as de-
ferred income/revenue. Advances received from customers are presented as deferred..

3-10 Debtors and other debit balances 
Debtors are recorded at their nominal value net of any irrecoverable amounts. An estimate of doubtful debts is 
made when collections of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified. Other 
debit balances are stated at cost less impairment losses (3-12)..

3-11 Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, “cash & cash equivalents” comprise cash at 
banks & on hand, time deposits with original maturities of three month or less and net of bank overdraft balances, 
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group cash management.

3-12 Impairment of assets
a) Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity accounted 
investee, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:
•	 Default or delinquency by a debtor;
•	 restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
•	 Indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy;
•	 Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers;
•	 The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or
•	 Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the expected cash flows from a group 

of financial assets.

For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged 
decline in its fair value below its cost. The Group considers a decline of 20% to be significant and a period of nine 
months to be prolonged.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost
The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective level. All 
individually significant assets are individually assessed for impairment. Those found not to be impaired are then 
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet individually identified. Assets that are 
not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried out by group-
ing together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries and the 
amount of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the 
actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that there 
are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.

If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, then the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss.
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Available for sale financial assets 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying the losses accumu-
lated in the fair value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition 
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previ-
ously recognized in profit or loss. 

If the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases and the increase can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss is re-
versed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instru-
ment classified as available-for-sale are not reversed.

Equity-accounted investees
An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, and is re-
versed if there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

b) Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets other than inventories 
and deferred tax assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising 
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the syner-
gies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value 
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on 
a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

3-13 Finance leasing
The accrued rental value due from finance lease contracts in addition to what the Group bears for maintenance 
and repairing expenses of leased assets; are charged to the consolidated income statement each financial year. If 
the Group at the end of the contract decided to exercise the purchase option of the leased asset, this asset will be re-
corded as a fixed asset by the value of using the purchase option which is agreed upon in the contract. This asset will 
be depreciated based on its useful life according to the Group’s fixed asset depreciation policy for similar assets.

3-14 Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount 
is recognized as finance cost

Provision for warrantys
A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or services are sold, based on historical 
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminat-
ing the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the 
Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

3-15 Loans and borrowings
•	 Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
•	 Subsequent to initial recognition، interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any difference 

between cost and redemption value being recognized in the consolidated income statement over the period of the 
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

3-16 Trade payables and other credit balances
Trade payables and other credit balances are stated at cost.

3-17 Share capital
a) Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. 
Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with EAS 24 
“Income Tax”. 

b) Repurchase and reissue of ordinary share 
When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares 
and are presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the 
amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is 
presented within share premium.

c) Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

3-18 Equity settled share – based payments
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to employees is generally 
recognized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market 
performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized is based on the number 
of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based payment is 
measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

3-19 Revenue 
a) Gas activity revenue

Refundable works 
•	 Refundable revenues generated from executed works for the Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) in 

respect of the two projects at West of Alexandria and Borg Al Arab are recorded in the consolidated income state-
ment using the percentage of completion method, based on the percentage of the actual cost according to the ac-
crual basis up to the date of the consolidated balance sheet date divided by the total estimated cost until completion 
of the project multiplied by the total contractual value of the two projects.

•	 Refundable revenue generated from construction contracts are recorded using the percentage of completion 
method, contract execution costs that could not be estimated in a reliable way its revenues is recognized in the 
refundable cost limit. 
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Minimum take commissions
•	 Minimum commission revenue guaranteed by the agreement with the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 

for selling and piping natural gas is recognized after the first customer in the concession area. This commission is 
subject to audit and financial adjustments periodically at the end of each year.

•	 Minimum commission revenue in respect of pushing gas to Al Nubaria electrical station is represented in the com-
pany’s minimum revenue included in the agreement concluded with the Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas 
(EGAS) and due at the end of each year of the agreement term.

•	 Fayum Gas Company receives minimum guaranteed commission from EGPC for operating, managing, and 
maintaining the gas transmission and distribution grid, annexes and for collecting payments from customers. The 
commission is calculated based on investment spent by Fayum Gas, with a minimum guaranteed internal rate of 
return (IRR) of 18%. Minimum commission is recognized in the income statement when it accrues at the higher of 
the actual commission or minimum commission guaranteed by EGPC. For actual gas sales, Fayum Gas remits the 
funds it collects to EGPC net of its actual commission, which is calculated as a percentage of gas consumption.

Natural gas sales commission
Revenues from natural gas sales commission are recognized on Al Nubaria electrical station according to the sold 
quantities and the agreed upon prices.

Commercial sector revenue  
Revenues from commercial sector are recognized when the services are rendered to the customers.

Bill of quantities revenue 
Bill of quantities revenues are recognized when the services are rendered to the client.

Network operation & gas distribution commission
Revenues from operation of network and gas distribution are recognized in the light of amounts distributed to 
customers and the agreed upon prices.

Revenues & costs of construction contracts
Revenue from construction contracts is recognized in the income statement according to the percentage of 
completion through calculating what is actually accomplished from the clauses of the contract.

The contract costs are measured through calculating what is spent from the clauses of contract for the stage in 
which the revenue is recognized. The contract costs include all direct costs from materials, labor, subcontractors 
and overheads related to the execution of contract clauses like indirect labor and maintenance expenses as it also 
includes the general and administrative expenses spent directly on the contracting works.

The provision for estimated losses according to the construction contracts in progress is formed if any- in the 
financial year during which those losses are assessed. 

b) Communications, geographic maps and agencies activities revenue
•	 Revenue from sale of geographic maps is recognized in the consolidated income statement when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.
•	 Revenue from services of agencies is recognized in the consolidated income statement when the service is rendered.

c) Chemicals and plastic activity revenue
Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reli-
ably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably. For export sales, transfer of risks and rewards of the goods sold occurs according to the shipping terms.

d) Cooling technology by natural gas activity revenue
•	 Revenues are recognized when goods are delivered to customers. Service revenue is recognized when the service is 

rendered to customers. No revenue is recognized if there is uncertainty for the consideration or its associated costs. 
•	 Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and 

incentive payments to the extent that is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. 

As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized in profit or 
loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract which is determined by the Company’s technicians. Contract 
expenses are recognized as incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activity. The stage of completion 
is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated 
reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. A 
provision for expected loss on a contract- if any- is formed in the financial year during which those losses are assessed.

e) Sale of electricity 
Revenue is recognized upon issuance of customers’ electricity consumption invoices.

f) Fertilizers activity revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer. No revenue is recognized if there is uncertainty for the consideration or its associated costs or any 
expected sales return or continuation of management involvement with the goods.

g) Gain on sale of investments
Gain on sale of investments in securities is recorded as soon as their ownership is transferred to the buyer and is 
computed based on the difference between the selling price and the book value on the date of sale.

h) Finance income and finance costs 
The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:
•	 Interest income;
•	 Interest expense;
•	 The foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities; 
•	 The gain on the measurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree in a business combination;

Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in 
profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

i) Commission income
Commission income is recognized as it accrues in the consolidated income statement.

j) Dividends
Dividends income is recognized in the consolidated income statement on the date the Group’s right to receive pay-
ments is established

3-20 Expenses
a) Lease payments

Payments under leases are recognized in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the lease.

b) Employees’ pension
•	 The Group contributes to the government social insurance system for the benefit of its personnel in accordance 

with the social insurance law. Under this law, the employees and the employers contribute into the system on a fixed 
percentage-of-salaries basis. The Group’s liability is confined to the amount of its contribution. Contributions are 
charged to the consolidated income statement using the accrual basis of accounting.

•	 Some Companies within the Group contribute to the Group Insurance plan for the benefit of their employees at an 
insurance Company. According to this plan, employees are granted end of service benefit on retirement, death and 
full disability during the service years. End of service benefits are repayable by the insurance company. The Com-
panies contribution is confined to the annual insurance premiums.  The Group contributions are charged to the 
consolidated income statement as they are incurred according to accrual basis of accounting.
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c) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or re-
ceivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current 
tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for:
•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill
•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that: 
1) is not a business combination 
2) Neither affects accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that 

the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future 
taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax as-
sets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they re-
verse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For this 
purpose, the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through 
sale, and the Group has not rebutted this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

d) General Authority for Investments fees
Companies established under the provisions of the Investment law and according to the Free Zones System are 
not subject to income tax.  However, according to the Investment law, 1% of the total revenues of these companies 
are due to General Authority for Investments.  The said fees are calculated and charged to the consolidated income 
statement according to the accrual basis of accounting.

3-21 Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be 
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative consolidated income statement 
and statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start 
of the comparative year.

3-22 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

3-23 Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of interrelated assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that 
are subject to risks and benefits that are different from those of other business segments or engaged in providing 
products or services within a particular economic environment that is attributed by risks and benefits different 
from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

4- Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk
•	 Market risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, poli-
cies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Parent Company’s management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. The Board also is responsible for identifying and analyzing the risks faced by 
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

The Group management aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employ-
ees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company is assisted in its oversight role by the Audit Committee and Internal 
Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and suddenly reviews of risk management controls and procedures, 
the result of which are reported to the Board of Directors.

4-1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s trade and other receivables.

Trade and other receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The demo-
graphics of the Group’s customer base including the default risk of the industry has less an influence on credit risk.

Approximately 10.15 % of the Group’s sales are attributable to sales transactions with a governmental customer and other 
sales are attributable to a large group of local customers. However, geographically there is no concentration of credit risk.

The Group Management has established credit policies under which each new customer is analyzed individually for 
credit worthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Customers 
that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark credit worthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis. 
No previous impairment loss was resulted from transactions with trade receivables.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of 
trade and other receivables based on historical data of transactions with them.
 
Investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in active and liquid securities. Management does not 
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  
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Guarantees
The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

4-2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group’s reputation. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
expected operational expenses for an appropriate period including the servicing of financial obligations, this excludes 
the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

In addition, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:

•	 L.E 187.004 million equivalents to USD 9.755 million as unsecured bank facilities. Interest would be payable at a rate 
ranging between 10% and 13.5%.

•	 L.E 377.062 million equivalent to USD 19.67  million as bank facilities secured by commercial papers and collateral 
checks and promissory notes. Interest would be payable at a rate ranging between 1.5% and 2.5% above CORRIDOR 
rate for Egyptian Pound.

•	 L.E 155.741 million equivalent to USD 8.124 million as bank facilities secured by promissory notes. Interest would be 
payable at a rate ranging between 1% and 2.5% above LIBOR.

•	 L.E 393.341 million equivalents to USD 20.519 million as unsecured bank facilities. Interest would be payable at a rate 
ranging between 1% and 4%.

4-3 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk man-
agement is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

4-4 Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the respective 
functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the Egyptian Pound.

Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying opera-
tions of the Group. This provides an economic hedge and no derivatives are entered into.

The Company’s investments in other subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be 
long-term in nature.

4-5 Interest rate risk
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that about 1.88 % of its exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings 
is on fixed rate basis. The Company does not enter into interest rate swap.

4-6 Other market prices risk
Equity price risk arises from available for sale equity securities and management of the Group monitors the equity 
securities in its investment portfolio based on market indicates.

Material investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are ap-
proved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company.

The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to maximize investment returns. Management is assisted by 
external advisors in this regard.

In accordance with this strategy certain investments are designated as held for trading investments because their 
performance is actively monitored and they are managed on a fair value basis.

4-7 Capital management
The Group policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investors, creditors and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company monitors the return on capital, which the Company defines as net 
profit for the year divided by total shareholders’ equity, the Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends 
to shareholders.

The Board of the Parent Company seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible 
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year; the Parent Company is not 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

5- New Issues and Amendments issued to the Egyptian Accounting 
Standards (EAS’s) and have been adopted effective from 
January 1st , 2016 :
During the year 2015, a modified version of the Egyptian Accounting Standards (EAS) was issued including some 
of the new accounting standards and the amendments to some existing standards provided that they shall come 
into force for the financial years that start after January 1, 2016, while taking into consideration that the early 
implementation of these standards is not permissible.

In the following table, we shall present the most prominent amendments on the consolidated financial statements 
of the Company as at December 31, 2016:

New or Amended Standards Summary of the Most Significant Amendments Possible Impact on the Financial 
Statements

Egyptian Standard No. (1) 
Presentation of Financial 
Statements

Financial Position Statement
•	 The	Standard	does	not	require	to	present	the	working	capital	

presentation.

The reference financial statements that was included in 2006 Standards was 
excluded; which presented the working capital presentation.

•	 A	statement	shall	be	added	to	the	statement	of	financial	position	including	
balances of the beginning of the first presented comparative period in 
case of retrospective implementation or change in an accounting policy or 
reclassification carried out by the entity.

Income Statement (Profit or Loss) / Statement of Comprehensive Income
The entity shall disclose all recognized income and expense captions during 
the financial year in two separate statements; one of them presents the 
profit or loss components (Income Statement) and the other one starts 
with the profit or loss and presents the other comprehensive income items 
(Statement of Comprehensive Income).

•	 The	presented	financial	statements,	
disclosures and their accompanying 
notes including the comparative 
figures have been re-presented.

Adding a new statement, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, for the current 
and comparative year.

Egyptian Standard No. (10) 
Property, Plant and 
Equipment (PPE) 

•	 The	option	of	using	the	revaluation	model	in	the	subsequent	
measurement of PPE has been canceled.

•	 The	financial	shall	disclose	a	reconciliation	of	the	carrying	amount	–	
movement of the PPE and its depreciations- in the notes accompanying 
the financial statements at the beginning and the end of the current year 
and the comparable year.

•	 The	strategic	(major)	spare	parts	and	stand-by	equipment	can	be	
classified as PPE when the entity expects to use them for more than one 
period (when the definition of PPE applies thereto).

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

The comparative figures related to the PPE 
in the notes accompanying the financial 
statements have been re-presented 
to be in conformity with the required 
amendments on the standard.

Egyptian Standard No. (23)
Intangible assets

The option of using the revaluation model in the subsequent measurement of 
intangible assets has been canceled

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

Egyptian Standard No. (45)
Fair Value Measurement

The new Egyptian Accounting Standard No. (45) “Fair Value Measurement” 
was issued and shall be applied when another Standard requires or allows 
measurement or disclosure to be made at fair value.

This Standard aims the following:

(a) Defining the fair value
(b) Laying down a framework to measure the fair value in one Standard.
(c) Identifying the disclosure required for the fair value measurements.

The standard has been applied 
prospectively on preparing the interim 
financial statements as at March 
31, 2016, including the disclosure 
requirements stated in this standard.
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New or Amended Standards Summary of the Most Significant Amendments Possible Impact on the Financial 
Statements

Egyptian Standard No. (29)
Business Combination 

• The purchase method was cancelled and replaced by the acquisition 
method; as results:
1- Changing the acquisition cost to become the cash consideration 

transferred; and to be measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
2- Contingent consideration: the fair value of the consideration shall be 

recognized at the acquisition date as a part of consideration transferred.
3- Changing the method of measuring goodwill in case of Step Acquisition is made.

• The transaction cost (the cost related to the acquisition):
Shall be charged to the Income Statement as an expense in which the costs 
incurred it and shall not be added to the cash consideration transferred; 
except for the costs of issuing equity or debt instruments directly related to 
the acquisition process.

This amended standard has been 
applied on business combination which 
its acquisition date is on or after January 
1st, 2016.  Therefore,   no amendments 
have been made on the assets and 
liabilities arising from business 
combination that occurred before 
January 1st, 2016.

Egyptian -Standard No.(42)
The Consolidated Financial 
Statements

•	 The	new	Egyptian	Accounting	Standard	No.	(42)	“The Consolidated 
Financial Statements” was issued and accordingly Egyptian Accounting 
Standard No. (17) “The Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” 
has changed to become “The Separate Financial Statements”. Pursuant 
to the new Egyptian Accounting Standard No. (42) “The Consolidated 
Financial Statements” .The control model has changed to determine the 
investee entity that must be consolidated.

•	 Accounting	for	the	changes	in	the	equity	of	the	parent	company	in	a	
subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders.

•	 Any	Investment	retained	in	a	former	subsidiary	re-measured	at	fair	value	
at the date when control is lost and recognize any resulting difference in 
the Income Statement.

•	 Losses	applicable	to	the	Non-Controlling	Interest	“NCI”	in	a	subsidiary	
including component of Other Comprehensive Income are allocated to 
the owners of the holding entity and the NCI even if this causes the NCI to 
have a deficit.

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

These amendments are not retroactively 
applied.

Egyptian Standard No.(43)
Joint Arrangements 

•	 The	new	Egyptian	Accounting	Standard	No.	(43)	“Joint	Arrangements”	
was issued and accordingly Egyptian Accounting Standard No. (27) 
“Interests in Joint Ventures”.

•	 According	to	the	new	Egyptian	Accounting	Standard	No.	(43)	“Joint	
Arrangements” a new model for the joint arrangements was laid down in 
order to classifies and determine their kind whether (Joint Venture) or 
(Joint Operation).

As such, action depends on the substance of the arrangement and not only 
its legal form.
In case the arrangement is classified as a joint venture, each party of the 
arrangement parties shall account for that investment using the equity 
method only (as the proportionate consolidation method was eliminated) 
whether in the Consolidated or Individual Financial Statements issued 
thereby.

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

Egyptian Standard No. (18) 
Investments in Associates 

•	 The	accounting	treatment	of	the	joint	ventures	shall	be	added	to	this	
standard accordingly, the Investments in associates and joint ventures 
shall be accounted for that investments using the equity method in the 
Consolidated and Individual Financial Statements.

•	 The	entity	shall	discontinue	to	use	the	Equity	method	from	the	date	when	
its investment ceases to be an associate or a joint venture provided that the 
retained interest shall be re-measured using the fair value and the difference 
shall be recognized in the Income Statement.

•	 If	an	investment	in	an	associate	becomes	an	investment	in	a	joint	venture	
or vice versa, the entity continue to apply the Equity Method and does not 
re-measure the retained Interest.

•	 If	an	entity’s	ownership	interest		in	an	associate	or	a	joint	venture	
reduced, but the entity continues to apply the Equity Method, the 
entity shall reclassify to profit or loss the proportions of the gain or loss 
that previously been recognized in OCI relating to that reduction in 
Ownership interest.

The amendment on the standard has 
no impact on the comparative figures 
presented.

No retroactive restatement are 
applied with regard to discontinue of 
using the equity method if the date 
of discontinuance of using the equity 
method occurred in the period before 
the application of this amended 
standard and also, with regard to the 
changes in the Company’s interests in 
the associate or the joint venture with 
the continuance of using the Equity 
Method.

Egyptian Standard No. (44) 
Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

•	 A	new	Egyptian	Accounting	Standard	No.	(44)	“Disclosure	of	Interests	
in Other Entities” was issued in order to comprise all the required 
disclosures pertaining to the investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint 
arrangements, and the unconsolidated Structured Entities.

•	 The	objective	of	this	standard	is	to	comply	the	entity	to	disclose	the	
information that enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the 
nature and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the 
effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance, 
and cash flows.

The amendment on the standard has 
no impact on the comparative figures 
presented.

Egyptian Standard No. (36)
Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources

The option of using the revaluation model in the subsequent measurement of 
the PPE and intangible assets has been canceled.

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

Egyptian Standard No. (14)
Borrowing Costs

Elimination of the previous benchmark treatment that recognized the 
borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset in the Income Statement without being 
capitalized on the asset.

The amendment on the standard has no 
impact on the figures presented in the 
financial statements.

New or Amended Standards Summary of the Most Significant Amendments Possible Impact on the Financial 
Statements

Egyptian Standard No. (41)
Operating Segments

EAS 33 “Segment Reports” has been replaced with EAS (41) “Operating 
Segments”.
Accordingly, the disclosure and the volume of the required disclosures that 
the Segment Reports must disclose on; mainly depends on the Segments 
information presented to Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) of the 
entity to make decisions on the resources that must be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance.

Re-presenting the information 
corresponding to the earlier periods 
including the interim periods has been 
made, unless the information is not 
available and the cost of preparing such 
information is too high.

Egyptian Standard No. (25)
Financial Instruments: 
presentation

•	 Any	financial	instrument	with	a	resale	right	shall	be	classified	as	an	equity	
instrument instead of classifying it as a financial liability; if it meets the 
conditions in accordance with the paragraphs (16 A or 16 b) or paragraphs 
(16 c and 16 d) of the same Standard, from the date the instrument has all the 
features and meets all the conditions set out in those paragraphs.

 An entity shall re-classify the financial instrument from the date the 
instrument ceases to have all the features or meet all conditions set out in 
those paragraphs.

Re-presenting any financial instrument 
that meets all the conditions including 
all the presented comparative periods 
have been made.

Egyptian Standard No. (40)
Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures

•	 A	new	Egyptian	Accounting	Standard	No.	(40)	“Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures” was issued including all the disclosures required for the 
financial instruments.

•	 Accordingly,	EAS	(25)	was	amended	by	separating	the	disclosures	from	it.	
The name of the Standard became “Financial Instruments: Presentation” 
instead of “Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure”

Retroactive amendment to all the 
comparative figures of the presented 
disclosures have been carried out.

6- Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary for-
mat of business segments is based on the Group management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets other than goodwill.

Business segments
The Group comprises the following main business segments: 
•	 Oil & gas sector.
•	 Fertilizers, chemicals & plastic sector.
•	 Other operations.

Other operations include the communications, geographical maps, agencies, and cooling technology by natural 
gas activity, insurance activity and investment activity.

Geographical segments
The oil segment is managed on centralized basis, but is operated in Sudan. In presenting information on the basis 
of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets are 
based on the geographical location of the assets.
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7 Acquisition of a subsidiary

Description Legal form Ownership 
%

Paid amount
 of 

participation 
%

Carrying 
amount  as at

 31/12/2016
USD

Carrying 
amount as at 

31/12/2015
USD

Quoted investments
Delta Insurance Co. S.A.E 32.02 100 5 460 482 14 189 472
Unquoted investments

Egyptian Co. for Oil Tankers
S.A.E under the 

Private Free Zones 
System

30 100 18 148 175 19 342 058

Egyptian Hydrocarbon Co.*
S.A.E under the 

Private Free Zones 
System

- - - 51 857 225

Building Material Industries Co.** S.A.E 30.068 100 24 116 623 49 737 821
El Sharouk for Mellamin & Resins Co. S.A.E 49.95 100 628 014 1 742 308
Other associates S.A.E 13.397 100 15 429 069 18 188 849

63 782 363 155 057 733

•	 The fair value of the Group’s investments in associates listed in the Egyptian Exchange (Delta Insurance Co.) 
amounted to USD 2 571 179 at the consolidated balance sheet data (2015: USD 5 500 633).

•	 The Group investment in Egyptian Hydrocarbon Co. has been reclassified as non-current assets held for sale as men-
tioned in detail in note No. (25) below.

•	 As from the beginning of 2013, its investment in Building Material Industries Co. has been reclassified as an associate 
due to the availability of significant influence of the company’s management over this associate through participa-
tion of its financial and operating policies. The direct investment percentage is 15.068% and the indirect investment 
percentage through a subsidiary is 15%. The investment cost in Building Material Industries Co. amounts to USD 45 
225 745. The market value of the Company’s investments in Building Material Industries Co. amounted to USD 23 
198 274 according to the last transactions made on these shares. 
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8- Available for sale investments

Description Legal form Ownership
Paid amount of 

participation

Balance
 as at 

31/12/2016
Balance

 as at 31/12/2015
% % USD USD

Investments measured at fair value
Portfolios managed by international investment managers (*) - -  - 71 435 926 63 243 316

Local companies securities listed in the Egyptian Exchange 
S.A.E

companies - 100 1 540 237 8  592 595
Investments measured  at cost

I Squared Capital Investment Limited

Limited liability 
Co. at  Cayman 

Islands 15 100 30 000 000 30 000 000

United Arab Chemical Carriers Co.

Limited by 
Shares Co. in 

UAE 3.16 100 13 977 185 14 094 428
Other companies ** 170 761 304 50

287 714 652 115 930 389
Impairment loss (170 761 304) -

116  953 348 115 930 389

* This item is represented in the value of the investment portfolios owned by the Company in Kuwait and as from the beginning of 2012 they have 
been accounted for through the early adoption of IFRS (9) “Financial Instru-ments” instead of EAS (26) “Financial Instruments: - Recognition and 
Measurement “. The said matter resulted in recognizing gains and losses on the re-measurement of these portfolios at fair value including the loss 
on disposal of part of them with total amount of USD 170.87 million that was included in equity under fair value reserve out of which an amount of 
USD 179.63 million belongs to year 2015 and the remaining amount belongs to the current year. 

** This item is represented in the value of investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries due to loss of control over them during the year as mentioned 
in detail in note No. (51). 

9- Held to maturity financial assets
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD

Portfolios * 92 333 158 -

Governmental bonds 27 454 821 -

119 787 979 -

Classified as Follows:-

Current portion (due within one year) 6 259 781 -

Long – term portion (due  after one year) 113 528 198 -

* This balance represents the amortized cost of the portfolios held at a foreign bank and is represented in the value of time deposits of due dates 
ranging from 1.5 years to 3 years. 

•	 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk related to cash at the banks and on hand are disclosed in note No. (56).
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10- Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation
National Gas Co. “NATGAS’’ and Fayoum Gas Co. deal with the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation repre-
sented by the Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) according to the agreements signed between the 
two parties. These agreements resulted in the following debit and credit balances:

10-1 Debit balances
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
National Gas Company (NATGAS) 
Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) 256 715 3 416 540
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation - -

256 715 3 416 540
Fayoum Gas Company 
Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) 388 267 1 041 984
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 771 422 2 865 736

1 159 689 3 907 720

1 416 404 7 324 260

Classified as Follows:-

Current portion (due within one year) 1 416 404 7 324 260

Long – term portion (due  after one year) - -

10-2 Credit balances 

Represented in the following
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
National Gas (NATGAS)
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 23 841 039 14 634 384

23 841 039 14 634 384
Fayoum Gas Company 
Egyptian Holding Company for Natural Gas (EGAS) 142 379 572 124
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation -   581 333

142 379 1 153 457
23 983 418 15 787 841

Classified as Follows:-
Current portion (due within one year) 23 983 418 15 206 509
Long – term portion (due  after one year) -   581 332

•	 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk related to balances due to and from Egyptian 
General Petroleum Corporation are disclosed in note No. (56).
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13- Projects under construction 
This balance is represented as follows: -

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Construction of plant for fertilizers using nitrogen 14 471 667 14 471 667
Advance payments for purchasing of  property, plant and equipment 11 083 582 2 745 307
Buildings and constructions - 1 043 989
Others 1 089 796 6 856 735

26 645 045 25 117 698
Impairment losses (14 471 667) (14 471 667)

12 173 378 10 646 031

14- Goodwill
This balance is represented in the following:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

The carrying amount of goodwill relating to National Gas Co. (NATGAS) 6 472 263 15 866 151 
The carrying amount of goodwill relating to Plastichem Co. 9 129 145 22 379 246
The carrying amount of goodwill relating to Fayoum Gas Co. 1 329 903 3 260 137
The carrying amount of goodwill relating to Alex Fert Co. 34 107 324 34 107 324

51 038 635 75 612 858

15- Other intangible assets (net)
This balance is represented as follows:

Balance
as at

1/1/2016
Additions 

during the year
Amortization  

for the year
Foreign 

exchange
Net

as at 
31/12/2016

USD USD USD USD USD
Deferred charges (*) 6 089 424 - (810 487) (3 198 988) 2 079 949
Right of use (**) 21 217 970 - (5 092 313) - 16  125 657
Water rights 3 000 000 - - - 3 000 000

30 307 394 - (5 902 800) (3 198 988) 21 205 606
Impairment losses (3 000 000) - - - (3 000 000)

27 307 394 (5 902 800) (3 198 988) 18 205 606

(*) This item represents the additional actual costs incurred by National Gas Co.- NATGAS for carrying out of the works related to Nubaria Electrical 
Station that has not recovered from Egyptian Natural Gas (EGAS) including the grant of signing the agreement for Gas sales commission for the 
station first operation year which will be amortized over 15 years from the agreement term which is 20 years. 

(**) The right of use item is represented in the amounts paid to a related party as a right to use of the ammonia export pipeline owned by the related 
party on exporting the ammonia produced by the Group. According to the settlement contract, the outflow of the future economic benefits is 
expected to be obtained over ten years.

16- Other debtors & notes receivable
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Property, plant and equipment selling receivables 63 860 225 224

Notes receivable 185 854  2 558

249 714 227 782

•	 The Group’s exposure to credit and foreign currency risks related to debtors is disclosed in note No. (56).
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17- Unrecognized deferred tax assets 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Deductible temporary differences 4 006 578 4 048 267
Tax losses 4 790 -

4 011 368 4 048 267

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future tax-
able profit will be available, against which the Company can utilize the benefits there from.

18- Cash at banks & on hand 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Cash on hand 109 977 237 565
Bank – current accounts 34 228 326 35 926 786
Bank – time deposits (less than three month) 67 088 080 335 773 131
Bank – time deposits (more than three month)* 137 913 432 20 000 950
Checks  under collection 2 846 350 4 928 614

242 186 165 396 867 046

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash & cash equivalents item is 
represented as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Cash at banks & on hand 242 186 165 396 867 046
Add:
Investments in treasury bills - less than three months (note No. 19) - 6 044 646
Less:
Bank – time deposits (more than three month) 137 913 432 20 000 950
Bank overdraft – Local banks note No. (39)  590 305 401 766
Blocked deposits - 35 607 795
Cash & cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 103 682 428 346 901 181

•	 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk related to cash at banks & on hand are disclosed 
in note No. (56).

19- Investments in treasury bills 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Treasury bills (due in 3 month) - 6 104 679
Treasury bills (due more than 3 month) 12 909 253 -
Income  from investment in treasury bills  (not due yet) (555 508) (60 033)

12 353 745 6 044 646

•	 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk related to cash at banks & on hand are disclosed 
in note No. (56)

20- Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
This item is represented in the market value of the portfolios owned by the Group, which consist of Egyptian com-
panies stocks and portfolios managed by investment managers abroad for the purpose of dealing in international 
stock exchanges. These investments are represented as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Portfolios managed by international investment managers 10 359 108 56 282 439
Egyptian Companies’ stocks (listed in the Egyptian Exchange) 261 974 1 521 441
Investments in direct mutual funds  398 54 691 794
Governmental bonds 4 538 341 -
Market value of financial assets at fair value through profit & loss 15 159 821 112 495 674

21- Trade & notes receivable 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Local customers  11 834 802 62 598 530
Export customers  4 005 571 3 848 076

15 840 373 66 446 606
Impairment loss on trade receivables (96 649) (248 968)

15 743 724 66 197 638
Notes receivable 5 533 824 3 369 294

21 277 548 69 566 932

•	 The Group’s exposure to credit and foreign currency risks related to trade receivables is disclosed in note No. (56).

22- Debtors & other debit balances
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Due from Sudapet Co.and Nilepet Co. - 22 149 309
Tax Authority 1 898 009 4 786 935
Prepaid expenses 866 305 1 992 603
Deposits with others 1 926 799 2 100 586
Imprests & employees advances 131 257 388 718
Uncollected bills 2 909 397 10 632 129
Suppliers -  advance payments 3 514 934 5 477 789
Change in crude oil value due from partners - 18 212 937
Accrued revenues 3 220 263 5 085 866
Due from El Shorouk for Melamine & Resins Co.  – an associate 1 219 049 2 987 201
Other debit balances 7 871 668 30 022 355
Due from Carbon Holdings Co. - 10 519 685
Due from unconsolidated subsidiaries * 137 214 059 -

160 771 740 114 356 113
Impairment loss on debtors & other debit balances  ** (137 607 712) (1 236 425)

23 164 028 113 119 688

* This amount is represented in the value of balances due from an unconsolidated subsidiary at December 31, 2016 
due to loss of control over it during the year as mentioned in details in note No. (51).

**  This balance includes an amount of USD  137 214 059 representing the impairment losses on the balances due from 
an unconsolidated subsidiary as at December 31, 2016 due to loss of control over it  as mentioned in detail in note 
No. (51).

•	 The Group’s exposure to credit and foreign currency risks related to debtors is disclosed in note No. (56).
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23- Inventories
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Supplies – held on the gas company warehouses 6 186 959 7 991 585
Supplies – subcontractors’ warehouses 862 588 1 393 466
Tools & equipment 124 793 177 994
Crude oil - 135 339
Basic & secondary raw materials 10 576 578 19 830 495
Goods in transit 1 057 230 1 258 960
Spare parts & supplies 13 520 143 27 214 155
Packaging materials 229 624 110 589
Work in process  55 968 2 117 028
Finished goods 7 932 531 6 216 615
Letters of credit 35 983 2 371 006
Fuel and oil 456 842 -
Goods held with others 5 459 279 -

46 498 518 68 817 232
Write down of inventories - (970 524)

46 498 518 67 846 708

24- Work in progress
This item is represented in the expenditures pertaining to projects of gas customers – commercial and house sec-
tor that have not been delivered yet to those customers of National Gas Company (NATGAS) at the consolidated 
balance sheet date and also to the expenditures of other projects as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD

Cost of gas customers projects 7 576 290 8 232 611

Cost of other projects 28 484 163 284

7 604 774 8 395 895

25- Assets held for sale
The assets of a subsidiary within other operating segment was presented as non-current assets held for sale as at 
December 31, 2016, whereas, an approval on selling offer have been taken during the financial year ended as at De-
cember 31, 2016, with respect to selling the entire number of shares owned by the Group in this company of which 
it owns 26% of the shares of a company (an associate) to a third party outside the Group. There are no impairment 
losses in value when measuring the investment at book value or fair value less the selling cost, whichever is less

Non-current assets held for sale
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Equity-accounted investees 37 064 009 -
Debtors and other debit balances 1 303 996 -

38 368 005 -

Liabilities held for sale
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Accrued expenses 4 600 -

4 600 -

26- Share capital
•	 The Company’s authorized share capital is USD 500 million (Five hundred million USD).
•	 The  issued capital was initially determined amounted to USD 120 million (One hundred & twenty million USD) 

distributed over 12 million shares at a par value of USD 10 per share. The Founders and subscribers through methods 
other than public subscription have subscribed to 9 million shares at a value of USD 90 million (Only ninety million 
USD) 3 million shares at USD 30 million (Only thirty million USD) were offered for public subscription and they were 
fully underwritten. The issued capital was paid in full. The issued capital has been increased and the share of the 
Company was split several times to reach an amount of USD 243 914 564.5 distributed over 975 658 258 shares of par 
value of US Cent 25 each paid in full.

•	 On June 11, 2015, the extra-ordinary general assembly of the Company unanimously approved the increase of the is-
sued and paid – up  capital from  USD 243 914 564.5 to USD 256 110 292.5 with an amount of increase of  USD 12 195 
728  as bonus increase  distributed over  48 782 912 bonus share  whose nominal value amounts  to 25 Cent for the 
purpose of  financing  the incentive & bonus plan of the Company’s employees and managers and executive board of 
directors members.

•	 On June 11, 2015, the ordinary general assembly of the Company unanimously approved to transfer part of the 
retained earnings  of the Company as shown  in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended at 
December 31, 2014 that were  approved by the shareholder’s’ ordinary general assembly held on March 22, 2015 to 48 
782 912 bonus  shares   with an amount of            USD 12 195 728 for the purpose of  financing  the incentive & bonus 
plan of the Company’s employees and managers and executive board of directors members, that has been  approved 
by the  Egyptian Financial Supervisory Authority on November 12, 2014. Annotation to effect such increase was 
made on the Company’s commercial register on September 13, 2015. Accordingly, the issued capital is USD 256 110 
292 distributed over 1 024 441 170 shares with a par value of  USD 25 cent each that is paid in full.

27- Legal reserve
 According to the Companies’ Law and the Parent Company’s statue, the Company is required to set aside 5% of the 
annual net profit to form a legal reserve. The transfer to legal reserve ceases once the reserve reach 50% of the issued 
share capital. The reserve is not distributable. However, it can be used to increase the share capital or offset losses. 
The Parent Company is required to resume setting aside 5% of the annual net profit until it reaches 50% of the issued 
share capital of the Parent Company.  If the reserve falls below the defined level (50% of the issued share capital), then 
the Company is required to resume setting aside 5% of the annual net profit until it reaches 50% of the issued share 
capital. The legal reserve balance includes an amount of USD 89 528 204 representing the amount credited to the legal 
reserve according to the provision of Article No. (94) of the executive regulations of law No. 159 of 1981 related to the 
addition of the share premium to the legal reserve until equal to half of the issued capital out of which an amount of 
USD 17 045 454 was credited to the legal reserve from the value of capital increase  made during 2014.

28- Special reserve – share premium
The balance amounting to USD 57 954 547 is represented in the remaining amount of the share premium collected 
from the share capital increase of a number of 136 363 636 shares during 2014 after deducting the amounts cred-
ited to the legal reserve.

29- General reserve
General reserve item represents the amounts set aside from the Parent Company’s profits in previous years accord-
ing to the resolutions of the General Assembly meeting of shareholders of the Parent Company. This reserve shall 
be used by a resolution from the General Assembly of shareholders based on a proposal from the Parent Compa-
ny’s board of directors in matters that could be favorable to the Company’s interests.

30- Fair value reserve 
This item includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments until the invest-
ment is derecognized.
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31- Amount set aside for share-based payments transactions
The balance of this item amounting to USD  17 561 848 as at December 31, 2016 is represented in the increase in 
the equity related to granting and allocating the shares of the incentives and bonus plan as mentioned in details in 
note No. (53) below.

32- Foreign currency translation differences of foreign operations 
The balance shown in the equity section as at December 31, 2016 is represented in the cumulative translation ad-
justments resulting from translating the financial statements of subsidiaries from foreign currencies to US Dollars 
for the purpose of consolidating these statements in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 
ended at December 31, 2016. In addition, this balance includes a share in the cumulative translation adjustments 
included in the consolidated equity of associates.

33- Non-controlling interests
The balance of non - controlling interests of USD 224 276 236 as at December 31, 2016 is represented in their share 
in subsidiaries’ equity as follows:

Non-
controlling 

interests

Non-
controlling  

share in 
subsidiaries 

profits (losses)     
for the year

Non-
controlling  

share in equity 
excluding 

profits
(losses) 

for the year

Non-
controlling  

interests
 as at

31/12/2016

Non-
controlling  

interests 
as at 

31/12/2015

% USD USD USD USD
National Gas Co. “NATGAS” (consolidated) 16.025 6 218 277  1 384 093 7 602 370 11 192 381
Globe Telecom Co. (consolidated) 0.07 753 210 963 1 402

Globe for Communications & Information Technology Co. 1 (11) 4 836 4 825 11 848

International Financial Investments Co. 0.01 6 979 44 176 51 155 57 402
Energy Group 24.8 1 345 12 880 14 225 27 603 092
Cooling Technology by Natural Gas Co.- Gas Chill 14.014 70 037 (453 674) (383 637) 2 552 260
Midor for Logistic Services Co. 0.11 (2) 160 158 161
Fayoum Gas Co. 22.01 379 615 129 441 509 056 814 094
Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics Co.  0.01 3 025 1 561 4 586 7 526
Henosis for Construction & Real-Estate Development Co. 0.012 (30) 113 83 -
Capital Investment Limited Luxembourg 0.01 (4) 2 (2) -
Middle East for River Transport Co. 0.01 - 306 306 306
Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding Company 58.33 7 250 320 209 245 298 216 495 618 227 569 379
Arabian Company for Fertilizers 25.28 2 355 (25 825) (23 470) (25 825)

13 932 659 210 343 577 224 276 236 269 784 026

34- Dividends declared and paid & board of directors remuneration
The board of directors proposed cash dividends for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 of 3.13 Cent/share 
with a total amount of USD 30 489 321 and has not approved any remunerations for the board of directors. The 
proposal is subject to the shareholders general assembly meeting of the Parent Company held.

The shareholders of the Parent Company approved cash dividends for the financial year ended December 31, 2015 
of 2.52 Cent/share with a total amount of USD 24 391 456 and has not approved any remunerations for the board 
of directors. The approval was made by the shareholders general assembly meeting of the Parent Company held on 
March 15, 2016.

35- Long-term loans & bank facilities 
•	 This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s loans, which are measured at amor-

tized cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risks 
see note No. (56). .

31/12/2016
USD

31/12/2015
USD

A- Loans & bank facilities granted to Egypt Kuwait Holding Company
The value of USD loan granted to the Company from a bank according to the medium-term finance 
agreement of USD 100 million dated October 6, 2011 for the purpose of financing the industrial investments 
of the Group. The loan is to be repaid over 4 equal annual installments starting from 30/6/2012 and 
ending on 30/6/2015, The loan is guaranteed by the pledge of the investment portfolio owned by one of the 
subsidiaries whose market value amounting to approximately KD 49.9 million as at September 8, 2011. The 
loan bears an interest rate of 2% above LIBOR for 3 month. During December 2012, the negotiation was 
made with the bank to increase the loan to USD 125 million and to modify the payment schedule so that the 
loan is paid over 4 annual installments starting 30/9/2013 and ending 30/9/2016, each installment amounts 
to USD 25 million except the last installment which will be USD 50 million. The contract is currently under 
signing after being amended.

During October 2014, it was agreed with the bank to amend the payment schedule so that the loan is paid 
over 3 annual installments starting from 30/9/2015 and ending on 30/9/2017, each installment amounts to 
USD 25 million except the last installment which will be USD 50 million. During September the bank agreed 
to postpone the accrued installment from 30/9/2015 to 30/6/2016, Negotiations with the bank is currently 
in process to modify the loan re-payment schedule. On December 6, 2016 , the bank agreed  to amend the 
loan payment schedule in order to settle the loan over 14 quarterly installments starting from 15/12/2016 
and ending on 15/12/2020 at a value of  USD 2 million each except for the first and the last installments 
amounting to USD 4 million & USD 62.1 million respectively which are  guaranteed by the pledge of the 
investment portfolio owned by one of the subsidiaries whose market value amounted approximately to  
KWD 18.613 million on November 24, 2016. An interest rate of 1.75% above LIBOR (London Interbank 
Offered Rate) is to be computed on the loan for three months and the agreement came into force and the 
first installment thereof was paid during the month of December 2016.While signing the new agreement by 
means of the two parties is in process.

86 100 000 94 000 106

Represents the balance of the medium - term loan granted to the Company from a bank with an amount of L.E 
280 million or the equivalent in foreign currency for the purpose of financing the Company’s activities according 
to the financing contract concluded with the bank during September 2014.The loan is to be repaid over 5 years 
and the withdrawal duration is 6 month starting from the date of approval. The loan bears an interest rate of the 
declared CORRIDOR lending rate of 2.7 % with minimum rate of 12% per annum including commission on the 
highest debit balance on the indebtedness in Egyptian Pound and bears 4% above LIBOR for three month on the 
indebtedness in foreign currency

24 600 000 30 200 000

B- Loans & bank facilities granted to NATGAS Company 
The amount used of the loan granted to the Company from a bank amounting to L.E 86 million with annual interest rate 
of 11% according to the CORRIDOR rate on deposit in addition to 2.25 % to finance the purchase of assets specialized for 
Borg El Arab project. The loan shall be repaid over 16 semi-annual installments. The first installment due on 30/4/2010 till 
31/10/2017 and an insurance policy shall be issued on all the financed assets in favor of the bank. 

- 8 028 704

The amount used from the loan granted to the Company by a bank with an amount of L.E 20 million at an annual interest 
rate of 10.5 % to finance the purchase of assets for Borg Al Arab project. The loan shall be settled on ninety six monthly 
installments starting from 19/11/2010 till 19/11/2018.

318 696 1 159 691

The equivalent to the amount used from the loan granted to the Company by one of the banks withan amount of L.E 200 
million or its equivalent in foreign currency for the purpose of utilizing such amount in financing Burj Al-Arab station. 
The loan shall be settled on 22 quarterly installments; the first installment shall fall due on 1/2/2018 till 1/5/2023 with an 
annual interest rate of 1.5 % above the lending rate of the indebtedness in the Egyptian pound; and an annual interest rate 
of 5 % above the LIBOR of the indebtedness in foreign currencies.

9 306 852 -

C- Loans granted to Alex Fert 

The Company concluded a contract with Ahli United Bank for a medium-term loan with an amount of USD 50 million. 
The Company has used an amount of USD 46.9 million from the available loan balance based on the contract with the 
bank on July 22, 2014.

The loan is secured by a first class commercial official mortgage on some of the production assets owned by the Company. 
The loan is to be repaid according to the schedules in the contract over 10 semiannual installments starting from the date 
of using the loan. Starting from June 2015, the Company pays the loan on monthly installments and the loan interest rate 
is variable and is determined in the light of the average LIBOR of six months in addition to a margin.

24 231 667 33 611 668

Loans related to subsidiaries - 73 110 406
144 557 215 240 110 575

Deduct:
Total current portion of long-term loan  (note No. 40) 25 148 051 117 012 826
Balance as at December 31, 2016 119 409 164 123 097 749



EKH  |  Annual Report  |  2016
104

36- Other long-term liabilitiess
This balance is represented in the following:-

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Customers – advance payments for electricity connection 360 944 795 265
Deferred income 11 964 38 715

372 908 833 980

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency and liquidity risks related to long-term liabilities are disclosed in note No. (56).

37- Deferred tax liabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities are attributable to the following:-

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Property, plant and equipment & other assets 26 571 939 29 721 891
26 571 939 29 721 891

38- Provisions
Movement on provisions during the year is represented as follows:-

Balance
 as at 

1/1/2016 

Provisions 
formed during

the year

Provisions 
derecognized  
due to loss of 

control in
 a subsidiary

Provisions 
reclassified 
during the 

year 

Provisions 
used

during
the year

Provisions -
 no longer 

required 
during 

the year

Foreign 
exchange 

differences

Balance
 as at

31/12/2016

USD USD USD USD USD USD USD USD
Provision for technical 
risks of works 414 215 34 626 - - (239 811) - - 209 030

Provision for other 
liabilities- short term 13 259 407 10 671 858 (2 126 739) 4 070 000 (104 912) (49 340) (4 501 182) 21 219 092

Provision for onerous 
contracts 153 487 - - - (6 652) (36 171) (90 059) 20 605

Total provisions classified 
as current liabilities 13 827 109 10 706 484 (2 126 739) 4 070 000 (351 375) (85 511) (4 591 241) 21 448 727

Provision for other 
liabilities – classified as 
non – current  liabilities

4 070 000 - - (4 070 000) - - - -

Total 17 897 109 10 706 484 (2 126 739) - (351 375) (85 511) (4 591 241) 21 448 727

39- Bank-overdraft
This balance shown on the consolidated balance sheet of USD 4 841 589 as at December 31, 2016 is represented as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

The value of the temporary bank facilities granted to the Group and guaranteed by some of investment 
portfolios owned the Group as stated in note No. (20) Above.  4 251 284 42 333 384

Bank overdraft from local banks   590 305 401 766
4 841 589 42 735 150

•	 For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency, liquidity risks see note No. (56).

40- Short – term loan installments & bank facilities
This balance shown on the consolidated balance sheet amounting to USD 76 213 486 as at 
December 31, 2016 is represented in the loan installments and bank facilities balance granted to the Group as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Current portion of loans and bank facilities as stated in note No. (35) below. 25 148 051 117 012 826
Credit facilities granted to  the Parent Company  and International Financial Investments Company (*) 47 552 502 92 689 352
Credit facilities granted to Cooling Technology by Natural Gas Co. 196 852 4 604 482
Credit facilities granted to Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics Co.(**) 3 155 840 2 451 312
Credit facilities granted to Fayoum Gas Co. 20 -
Credit facilities granted to NATGAS 160 221 -
Balance as at December 31, 2016 76 213 486 216 757 972

(*) The credit facilities balance granted to the Parent Company and International Financial Investments Company as at December 31, 2016 is 
represented as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

The amount used from the bank facility granted from a bank, according to the agreement concluded with 
the bank on August 15, 2012 with a total amount of L.E 150 million and bears an interest rate of 2.25% above 
CORRIDOR rate with minimum 10% for Egyptian pound withdrawals and 3.25% above LIBOR rate for 3 month 
for US dollar withdrawals. On August 31, 2015 it was agreed to renew and increase the facility limit with a total 
amount of LE 180 million that it’s to be used within a maximum amount of USD 13.6 million in dollars and 
the rest to be used in Egyptian pounds and the facility ends on May 31, 2016. During the year, it was agreed to 
renew the credit facility to become L.E 180 million and /or within the limit of  an amount of  USD 3 million at 
maximum. In addition an annual interest rate of 0.75% above CORRIDOR rate (currently 15.75%) shall be due 
thereon for Egyptian Pound and 6% for the foreign currency .The term of the facility is one year that shall end 
on May 31, 2017, and this facility is guaranteed by a promissory note amounting to USD 180 and /or within the 
limit of an amount of USD 3 million at maximum.

7 237 405 20 028 824

Represent the amount used from the bank facility granted from a bank, according to the agreement 
concluded with the bank on September 17, 2015 it was agreed to grant the facility with a total amount of LE 
200 million or it’s equivalents in foreign currency that bears an interest rate of 1% above CORRIDOR rate 
with minimum 11.25% per annum for Egyptian pound indebtedness and 4% in addition to the borrowing 
rate of the bank indebtedness in foreign currency.

17 222 824 14 323 624 

Represent the amount used of the credit facilities granted to the Company and International Financial 
Investments Company - a subsidiary; which is a credit facility in Egyptian Pound and US Dollar with a total 
amount of USD 26 million (or equivalent to EGP 173.714 million at maximum) till 30/11/2013, in accordance with 
the bank agreement obtained on February 2, 2013 for the purpose of financing the  working capital requirements 
including financing the short-term investments. The credit facility bears an interest rate of 0.75% above the 
corridor mid-rate of the central bank (currently 10.25%) for withdrawals in Egyptian pound and 2.5% above LIBOR 
for 3 months in return for issuing a promissory note signed by both companies with a total amount of USD 26 
million. In accordance with the bank approval on November 10, 2014, the credit facility was renewed for one 
year period that expired as at November 10, 2015 with a total amount of USD 26 million and L.E 31,818,181. On 
August 10, 2015, it was agreed to renew the credit facility for one year that ended as at July 31, 2016. Accordingly 
to the approval of the bank obtained on October 30, 2016, the credit facility was renewed again for another period 
that ended as at November 30, 2016 with a total amount of USD 26 million (or its equivalent in Egyptian Pound). 
Negotiations are currently in process with the bank to renew the credit facility for another period while taking into 
account that the amount used by the International Financial Investments Company  amounts to L.E 71,363,967 as 
at December 31, 2016.

17 875 789 22 729 108

The amount used from the bank facility granted from a bank, according to the agreement concluded with the 
bank on April 6, 2015 with a total amount of USD 25 million that bears an interest rate of 1% above U.S. dollar 
deposits, On July 26, 2015 It was agreed to increase the facility with a total amount of USD 63 million the 
facility bears an interest rate of 1% above deposit interest and that facility under the guarantee of company 
deposits with the bank.

- 35 607 796

Represented in the amount used from the credit facility granted to the Company by one of the banks in 
accordance with the agreement concluded with the bank on July 1, 2014 based on which an approval to grant 
the Company credit facilities within the limit of L.E. 350 million or its equivalent in foreign currency, with an 
interest rate of 1.5 % above the Corridor rate including the commission on the highest debit balance without 
minimum limit on debit balance with Egyptian Pound and 4% in addition to the lending rate of the bank for 
the indebtedness in foreign currencies.

5 216 484 -

47 552 502 92 689 352
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(**) The credit facilities balance granted to Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics Co. and Plastichem Co.as at December 31, 2016 is 
represented as follows:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

The amount used from the bank facilities granted to Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics Co. 
and Plastichem Co. from a bank with a total amount of       L.E 127.975 million and USD 500 000 and bears 
an interest rate of 2% per annum above CORRIDOR rate for Egyptian pound and 3% above LIBOR rate 
for US Dollar, and guaranteed by promissory note, trust receipt and insurance policy on the assets of the 
Group against all risks in favor of the bank.

1 577 010 536 881

The amount used from the credit facilities granted to the Company from a bank with total amount of L.E 
120 million that bears an interest rate of 0.75% per annum above the average CORRIDOR rate. - 3 450

The amount used from the credit facilities granted to the Company from a bank with total amount of 
L.E 120 million that bears an interest rate of 0.5% per annum above the average CORRIDOR rate and 
guaranteed by a corporate guarantee from Plastichem Co. and the insurance against burglary and fire on 
the assets of Speria Cp. and its subsidiaries in favor of the bank.

1 578 830 1 910 981

3 155 840 2 451 312

•	 For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency, liquidity risks see note No. (56).

41- Suppliers & subcontractors  
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Sundry suppliers 13 561 087 83 371 980
Deferred payments to subcontractors 323 672 22 912

13 884 759 83 394 892
Notes payable 365 916 181 561

14 250 675 83 576 453

•	 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency and liquidity risk related to suppliers are disclosed in note No. (56).

42- Creditors & other credit balances 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Customers -  advance payments 23 688 555 52 813 082
Accrued expenses 23 356 377 49 612 933
Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 9 670 530 19 557 406
Deposits to others 6 042 649 12 326 836
Income tax payable 13 151 242 13 875 959
Deferred income of minimum commission - 6 528 415
Installments under collection 1 366 593 3 918 002
Unearned revenue of gas distribution commissions - 5 095 403
Accrued interest on loan 3 041 4 995 950
Deferred income – current portion 3 829 9 386
Loans from non-controlling interests - 4 900 000
Other credit balances 21 177 150 30 790 036

98 459 966 204 423 408

•	 The Group’s exposure to foreign curre cy and liquidity risks related to creditors are disclosed in note No. (56).

43- Operating revenues
2016 2015
USD USD

Gas supplies activity revenues 85 937 583 86 910 115
Communication & geographic maps activity revenue 187 860 247 581
Agencies activity revenue 2 115 550 1 710 512
Chemicals & plastic activity revenue 115 979 237 94 815 991
Cooling technology by natural gas activity revenue 3 237 652 1 745 557
Fertilizers activity revenue 135 621 670 72 122 817

343 079 552 257 552 573

44- Operating costs
2016 2015
USD USD

Gas supplies activity revenues 44 150 363 56 631 767
Communication & geographic maps activity revenue 249 285 123 165
Agencies activity revenue 1 605 422 1 327 438
Chemicals & plastic activity revenue 73 548 290 67 358 180
Cooling technology by natural gas activity revenue 2 511 232 1 577 133
Fertilizers activity revenue 111 968 613 70 317 595

234 033 205 197 335 278

45- Income from investment activity
2016 2015
USD USD

Gain on sale of held for trading investments 658 529   145 292
Income from  held for trading investments 7 228   6 908
Unrealized gain on  held for trading investments 865 879 5 764 420
Gain on sale of  available -for- sale investments 541 489 4 700 764
Income from available -for- sale investments 6 864 375 10 051 966
Income from treasury bills 3 536 641 1 376 238
Income from governmental bonds 5 673 837 -

18 147 978 22 045 588

46- Other Income
2016 2015
USD USD

Provisions - no longer required 85 511 4 827 414
Reversal of impairment loss on debtors 4 593 96 975
Capital gain (loss) 71 321 31 864
Other 2 956 537 269 060

3 117 962 5 225 313

47- Selling & distribution expensess
2016 2015
USD USD

Cooling technology by natural gas activity's selling & distribution expenses 163 198   73 382
Chemicals & plastic activity's selling & distribution expenses 3 753 556 4 203 148
Phosphate fertilizers activity's selling & distribution expenses 6 130 829 3 154 226

10 047 583 7 430 756

48- Other expenses
2016 2015
USD USD

Provisions formed 10 706 484 1 825 107
Impairment loss on debtors - 64 563

10 706 484 1 889 670

49- Net financing income 
2016 2015
USD USD

Financing income
Interest income 13 547 054 11 867 074
Foreign exchange profit 31 818 427 613 527

45 365 481 12 480 601
Financing costs
Financing expenses 11 349 590 14 232 737

11 349 590 14 232 737
34 015 891 (1 752 136)
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50- Income tax expense 
2016 2015
USD USD

Current income tax expense 22 896 905 11 155 373
Deferred income tax benefit (702 143) (5 663 821)

22 194 762 5 491 552

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2016 2015
USD USD

Consolidated profit before income tax 98 670 211 54 887 208
Tax rate 22.5% 22.5%
Expected income tax 22 200 797 12 349 622
Non – deductible expenses 5 379 455 1 395 681
Tax exemptions (4 652 325) ( 4 926 645)
Effect of provisions (163 626) (2 550 070)
Capital gain / loss (24 056) (  7 250)
Fixed assets depreciation & amortization of other assets 837 919 (890 808)
Foreign currency translation differences (463 567) -
Effects of tax losses (633 992)   238 537
Others (156 480) (  117 515)
Temporary tax adjustments (129 363) -
Tax as shown in the consolidated statement of income 22 194 762 5 491 552
Effective tax rate 22.5% 10%

51-  Discontinued operations 
The item of losses from discontinued operations amounted to USD 10 630 332 as follows

31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD

Discontinued operation gain (loss) – Drilling & Petroleum Service sector (A) (10 545 673) 441 440

(Loss) from discontinued operation in a subsidiary working in Chemicals sector - 2 800
Discontinued operation gain (loss) – a Company from other operations sectors (B) (84 659) (215 396)

Gain (losses) from discontinued operations (10 630 332) 228 844

The Parent Company’s share in losses from discontinued operations (10 630 332) (3 104 809)
Basic losses per share from discontinued operations (US cent / Share) (1.09) (0,32)
Diluted losses per share from discontinued operations (US cent / Share) (1.04) (0,32)

(A) On February 25, 2016, an agreement was signed whereby the transfer of the shares owned by the Group in a 
subsidiary working in the energy field was transferred to an investor outside the Group. The Group has assigned 
all management and voting rights related to the shares owned by the Group in this subsidiary. Accordingly this 
subsidiary has been accounted for as unconsolidated subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements as at 
December 31, 2016.

The Company’s assets, liabilities, non-controlling interest, and its related items of comprehensive income have 
been excluded. The resulting losses from loss of control of USD 10 948 951 have been recognized in the income 
statement during the year and any remaining investments in the unconsolidated subsidiary have been recognized 
at fair value on that date.

The Company’s assets and liabilities were not a discontinued operation and were not classified as non-current 
assets held for sale as at December 31, 2015. The comparative figures of the consolidated income statement were 
re-presented to show the discontinued operation separately from the continued operations.

Gain (Losses) from discontinued operation is represented as follows:
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Results of discontinued operation
Revenues - 81 294 403
Share of gain of associates 403 278 -
Expenses - (80 852 963)
Gains  from operating activities - 441 440
Income tax  expense - -
Gains from operating activities, net of income tax 403 278 441 440
The Parent Company’s share in gains from operating activities 403 278 (2 892 213)
The non -controlling interest in gains from operating activities - 3 333 653
Loss on disposal of discontinued operation (10 948 951) -
Gain (Loss) from discontinued operation (net of tax) (10 545 673) 441 440
The Parent Company’s share in gain (loss) from discontinued operation (net of tax) (10 545 673) (2 892 213)

(B) During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, an approval on selling offer have been taken, with respect 
to selling the entire number of shares owned by the Group in a subsidiary company of which it owns 26% of the 
shares of a company (associate company) as mentioned in details in note No. (25) above.

The Company’s assets and liabilities were not a discontinued operation and were not classified as non-current 
assets held for sale as at December 31, 2015. The comparative figures of the consolidated income statement were 
re-presented to show the discontinued operation separately from the continued operation.

Gain (Losses) from discontinued operation is represented as follows
2016 2015
USD USD

Results of discontinued operation
Revenues 248 067 365 639
Share of loss of associates (296 494) (566 727)
Expenses (36 232) (14 308)
Losses from operating activities (84 659) (215 396)
Income tax  expense - -
Losses from operating activities, net of income tax (84 659) (215 396)
The Parent Company’s share in loss from operating activities (84 659) (215 396)
The non-controlling interest share in losses from operating activities - -
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations - -
Loss from discontinued operation (net of tax) (84 659) (215 396)
The Parent Company’s share in loss from discontinued operation (net of tax) (84 659) (215 396)

52- Earnings per share

52-1 Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 was based on the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year as follows:

Profit attributable to equity holders
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 62 542 790 36 272 437

Employees’ share in profit (53 925) (57 924)

Board of directors’ emoluments of the Parent - -

Employees & board of directors’ share in profit in subsidiaries and associates (7 880 007) (11 846 615)

Shareholders’ share in net profit of the year (Basic) 54 608 858 24 367 898 

Weighted average  number of shares outstanding during the year (Basic) 975 658 258 966 513 730 

Basic earnings  per  share (US cent / Share) 5.60 2.52
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Earnings per share from continued operations
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD

Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 73 173 122 39 377 246

Employees’ share in profit (53 925) (57 924)

Board of directors’ emoluments of the Parent Company - -

Employees & board of directors’ share in profit in subsidiaries and associates (7 880 007) (11 846 615)

Shareholders’ share in net profit of the year (Basic) 65 239 190 27 472 707

Weighted average  number of shares outstanding during the year (Basic) 975 658 258 966 513 730 

Basic earnings  per  share (US cent / share) 6.69 2.84

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (Basic) :-
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Issued shares at the beginning of the year 975 658 258 975 658 258
Effect of issuance of bonus shares (incentive shares) 48 782 912 -

1 024 441 170 975 658 258
Effect of issuance of incentive shares (48 782 912) -
Effect of own shares held (treasury shares) - (9 144 528)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (Basic) 975 658 258 966 513 730

52-2 Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 has been based on the 
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the financial year after adjustments for the effects of the dilutive potential ordinary shares as follows

Profit attributable to equity holders
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (Basic) 54 608 858 24 367 898
Adjustments for incentive and bonus plan - -
Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (Diluted) 54 608 858 24 367 898
Weighted average  number of shares outstanding during the year (Diluted) 1 024 441 170  966 513 730
Diluted earnings  per  share (US cent / Share) 5.33 2.52

Diluted earnings per share from continued operations
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company ( Basic) 65 239 190 27 472 707
Adjustments for incentive and bonus plan - -
Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (Diluted) 65 239 190 27 472 707
Weighted average  number of shares outstanding during the year (Diluted) 1 024 441 170 966 513 730
Diluted earnings  per  share (US cent / Share) 6.37 2.84

•	 On June 9, 2016 all the shares belong to the incentives and bonus plan were granted to the beneficiaries of the plan, 
The weighted average number of shares outstanding (diluted) during the year were calculated as follows:-

2016 2015
USD USD

Issued shares at the beginning of the year 975 658 258 975 658 258
Effect of issuance of bonus shares (incentive shares) 48 782 912 -

1 024 441 170 975 658 258
Effect of own shares held (treasury shares) - (9 144 528)
Weighted average  number of shares outstanding during the year (diluted) 1 024 441 170 966 513 730

53- Incentive and bonus plan of the Parent Company’s employees 
and directors
•	 On September 11, 2014, the extra - ordinary general assembly unanimously agreed to approve the incentive & bonus 

plan of the Company’s employees and managers and executive board of directors members, through the allocation 
of 48 782 912 shares, at a  percentage of 5% of its total  shares issued  till December 31, 2014 to apply the incentive and 
bonus plan through one of the following:-

•Issuance	of	new	shares	through	capital	increase	or	by	transferring	from	reserve	or	part	thereof	or	retained	earn-
ings to shares by which the value of issued capital is increased.
•Transfer	of	treasury	shares	to	incentive	and	bonus	plan	and	to	be	financed	from	reserves.

•	 On November 12, 2014, the Egyptian Financial Supervisory Authority approved applying the incentive & bonus plan 
of the Company’s employees and board of directors members, which includes granting the Company’s shares to the 
board members, managing directors, sectors ‘heads , general managers and the other employees in the Company or 
its subsidiaries (equity settled share- based payments) according to the level  of the Company’s or individuals’ eco-
nomic performance pursuant to the shareholders , and the terms and conditions stated in the said plan.

•	 On June 11, 2015, the ordinary general assembly of the Company approved by the majority of votes to transfer part 
of the retained earnings as shown  in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended at Decem-
ber 31, 2014, that were  approved by the shareholder’s’ ordinary general assembly held on March 22, 2015 to 48 782 
912 bonus  shares with an amount of  USD 12 195 728 for the purpose of  financing  the incentive & bonus plan of 
the Company’s employees and managers and executive board of directors members, that has been  approved by the 
Egyptian Financial Supervisory Authority on November 12, 2014. Annotation to the effect of such increase was made 
on the Company’s commercial register on September 13, 2015.

•	 On September 16, 2015 the Listing committee of the Egyptian stock exchange approved listing the incentive shares 
to finance the incentive and bonus plan for employees and board members. On October 5, 2015, the incentive shares 
were added to the shareholders register labeled as “the incentive and bonus plan for employees of Egypt Kuwait 
Holding Co.” 

•	 On June 9, 2016, the Supervisory Committee on the incentives and bonus plan agreed to grant and allocate all the 
shares belong to the incentives and bonus plan to the beneficiaries of the plan as well as determining the number 
of shares allocated to each one of them. The vesting date of such shares was also determined to be December 31, 
2016. All the shares were granted to the executive members of the Board of Directors and the senior managers of the 
Company, a matter that resulted in recognizing an expense for equity-settled share-based payment arrangements 
in the consolidated statement of income with a total amount of USD 17 561 848 and a corresponding increase with 
the same amount included in the equity caption under the item amount set aside for share-based payments trans-
actions. The beneficiary may dispose of the shares only after the lapse of three years from the date of share transfer 
to him. During this year, the beneficiary shall be entitled to receive 100 % of total dividends and exercise the right of 
voting on the resolutions of the Company.

Details of beneficiaries of the plan and the granting conditions of the shares to them are as follows:

Exercise
Price

 Fair value of
 share

 at
 grant date

 Number of
sharesGrant dateThe Allottee

•	 The	Company	achieves	increase	in	net	
profit by 15% annually-3648 782 912June 9, 2016 The executive members of the Board

of Directors and the senior managers

•	 Increase	in	the	company’s	share	price	
in the Egyptian Stock Exchange by 15% 

annually
-



EKH  |  Annual Report  |  2016
112

54- Controlled entities
Material subsidiaries are represented in the following:

Subsidiary name
At the consolidated financial statements the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing-financial instruments was:

Subsidiary  name Country Of Ownership
 Incorporation 31/12/2016 31/12/2015

% %
National Gas Company  (NATGAS) S.A.E (*) Egypt 83.97 74.94
Al  Nubaria for Natural Gas Company  S.A.E  Egypt 83.97 74.93
Globe Telecom Company  S.A.E Egypt 99.93 99.93
Globe Fiber for Information  & Communication Company S.A.E Egypt 99.9 99.9
Globe for Trading & Agencies  Company S.A.E Egypt 100 100
International Financial Investments Company S.A.E under Private Free Zones System Egypt 99.99 99.99

Ekuity Holding International - Limited by Shares Cayman 
Islands 100 100

Al Watania for Electric Technology Company (Kahraba) S.A.E Egypt 91.95 87.47
Globe for Communication   & Information Technology Company S.A.E Egypt 99 99
Midor for Logestic Services Company S.A.E Egypt 99.89 99.89
Cooling Technology by Natural Gas Company (Gas Chill) S.A.E Egypt 85.99 83.73
Sprea Misr for Production of Chemicals & Plastics Company S.A.E Egypt 100 100
Plastichem Company S.A.E Egypt 99.997 99.997
Midor Suez for Oil  Refining Company S.A.E   Egypt 99.99 99.99
Egyptian Company for Petrochemicals S.A.E   Egypt 99.2 99.2
Fayoum Gas Company S.A.E   Egypt 77.99 77.99

Fayoum Gas Holding Company - Limited Liability Co. British Virgin 
Islands 100 100

Solidarity Group United Arab of 
Emirates 100 100

Arabian Fertilizers - Limited Liability Co. at  the Jebel Ali Free Zone  UAE 99.99 99.99
Arabian Company for Fertilizers. S.A.E Egypt 74.72 74.72
National Energy Co - S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
Middle East for River Transport Co.- S.A.E  under Private Free Zones System Egypt 99.99 99.99

Alexfert Investments- Limited Liability Co. (****) Cayman 
Islands - 99.99

International Fertilizers Trading- Limited Liability Co. Cayman 
Islands 99.99 99.99

Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding Company – S.A.K (**) Kuwait 41.67 41.67
Alex Fert Co. (Abou Quir) - under the Public Free Zones System Egypt 37.81 37.81
International Petrochemicals Investments Company - under the Public Free Zones 
System (***) Egypt 46.14 46.14

International Logistics Company – L.L.C. (***) Kuwait 41.67 41.67

Magnolia Holding LP Co. (***) Cayman 
Islands 46.14 46.14

IPIC Global Co. (***) Cayman 
Islands 46.14 46.14

Magnolia Energy Infrastructure LP Co. (***) USA 46.14 46.14
Magnolia Idaho Nitrogen Co. (***) USA
EKHO for Agriculture Development Co. Egypt 100 -
Henosis for Construction & Real-Estate Development Co. Egypt 99.99 -
Capital Investment Limited Luxembourg Luxembourg 99.99 -
EKHO for Industrial Development Co Egypt 100 -
MAT Trading Co. Egypt 100 -

OGI Capital Limited United Arab of 
Emirates 100 -

•	 The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2016 did not include some subsidiaries of the 
Group which are working in the energy field because of loss of control over them as mentioned in detail in 
note No. (51) above

(*) During the year, an additional stake of 9 % of the share capital of National Gas Company (NATGAS) S.A.E was acquired for USD 3 043 968 
and the acquisition resulted in a gain of USD 1 223 550 that has been recognized within equity as it considered transaction among the Com-
pany’s shareholders.

(**) Starting from April 1st, 2012, the investments in Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding Company and its subsidiaries (International Logistics Com-
pany, Alex Fert Co. “Abou Quir”, International Petrochemicals Investments Company, Magnolia Holding LP Co., IPIC Global Co. Magnolia Energy 
Infrastructure LP Co. and Magnolia Idaho Nitrogen Co.) have been  accounted for  as subsidiaries of the Group instead of  accounting for  them as 
associates despite the fact that the Group has no more than 50% of their voting powers and this was because the Group has de- facto control over 
the financial and operating policies of Bawabat Al Kuwait Holding Company by the Group  as the Group is the main shareholder in it and has  half of 
the board of directors members of Bawabat Al Kuwait and one of its members works as the vice president and the managing director of Bawabat Al 
Kuwait, who stated to exercise his executive duties as from April 1st, 2012 and this matter has put the management contract of Bawabat Al Kuwait 
concluded with one of the Group’s companies which  is wholly owned by the Parent Company into effect. In addition, the smallness of contributions 
percentages in equity and the distribution of the non-controlling interests in the share capital significantly.

(***) During year 2012, the Group through, IPIC Global Co. – a subsidiary and its subsidiaries acquired 99 % in the share capital of Magnolia Idaho 
Nitrogen ( formerly Southeast Idaho Energy) in the United States of America of an amount of USD 3 million, which owns water rights of an amount 
of USD 3 million at the acquisition date, for the purpose of constructing a plant for producing fertilizers using Nitrogen extracted from an area near 
American Falls, Idaho.

On November 6, 2014, the Board of Directors of the subsidiary Company has decided that the fertilizers project is 
economically infeasible and has decided not to expend any further amounts other than the amounts already paid 
of USD 38 980 650. This decision was taken as a result of the decrease of the IRR due to the significant change in the 
investment cost of the project. Accordingly, the impairment testing for this investment was made on that date and 
it was concluded that the value of investment is impaired in full as follows :-

Note No. USD
Impairment losses related to Nitrogen fertilizers project
Impairment loss on projects under construction (13) 14 471 667
Impairment loss on intangible assets (15) 3 000 000
Total impairment losses related to Nitrogen fertilizers project 17 471 667

The said investments were accounted for as an asset acquisition and not as a business combination due to the fact 
that the acquisition does not represent an activity in addition to the fact that the acquire has limited assets and 
did not carry out any operating or production activities. The said assets were recorded at the paid amount and the 
remaining amounts were not recorded until fulfilling the remaining terms of payment according to the contract 
and until determining the fair values of the net assets acquired in order to allocate the acquisition cost over the as-
sets based on the relative fair value. In addition, the assets, liabilities and operating results of the said company for 
the financial year ended in December 31, 2015 and for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 were included 
in the consolidated financial statements at end of the year based on the management’s reports prepared by the 
financial department of the said company as the audit and the review thereof have not been finalized yet.

(****) During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, the management of the Group has agreed to the offer to sell the shares owned by it in 
this company, As a result, Alexfert Investments Co’s assets and liabilities were re-classified as non-current assets held for sale as mentioned in 
detail in note No. (25), (51).
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55- Transactions with related parties 
Related parties are represented in the Parent Company & subsidiaries’ shareholders, and companies in which 
they own directly shares giving them significant influence or controls over the Group and also board of directors 
of group’s companies. The Group’s companies made several transactions with related parties and these transac-
tions have been done in accordance with the terms determined by the Board of Directors of these companies. The 
conditions of those transactions were equivalent to those prevailing in the free market. Significant transactions are 
represented in following:-

•	 The Parent Company rents part of its present premises from Delta Insurance Co. - An associate in which the Parent 
Company holds 32.02 % of its issued capital by virtue of lease contracts ending on June 30, 2020 and January 31, 2017. 
In addition, the Company has made Group insurance agreements with Delta Insurance Co. 

•	 The Group has agreed with Abu Qir Fertilizers and Chemical Industries Company on signing rental contracts for 
a plot of land to construct the  factory on it, a contract for a building to use it as a temporary headquarter for the 
Company’s management and a contract for a plot of land to construct the water station. The Company has also 
agreed on signing a contract for using its sea and land facilities for exporting amounts of the produced ammonia.

56- Financial instruments 

56-1 Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the consolidated financial statements was as follows::

Note 31/12/2016 31/12/2015
No. USD USD

Other debtors - due from Sudapet Co. and Nilepet Co.Ltd. (22) - 22 149 309
Other debtors - due from  Carbon  Holdings  Limited Co. (22) - 10 519 685
Property, plant and equipment selling receivables (16) 63 860 225 224 
Held to maturity financial assets (9) 119 788 978 -
Due from Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (10) 1 416 404 7 324 260
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – Governmental bonds (20) 4 538 341 -
Trade receivables (21) 15 840 373 66 446 606
Cash & cash equivalents (18) 242 076 188 396 629 481

383 724 144 503 294 565

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the consolidated financial statements date according 
to the type of customer was as follows

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
USD USD

Governmental customer 1 752 130 7 750 009
Retail customers 45 842  153 350 
End user customers 11 453 234 62 019 431
Export customers 4 005 571 3 848 076

17 256 777 73 770 866

56-2 Impairment losses
The aging of trade receivables at the consolidated financial statements date was as follows: 

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
Balance Impairment 

losses
Balance Impairment 

losses
USD USD USD USD

Not past due 2 646 520 - 3 420 944 -
Past due 0-30 days 3 752 386 - 3 114 843 -
Past due 1-3 month 5 677 990 - 6 308 968 -
Past due 3-12 month 4 005 256 - 19 978 825 -
More than one year 1 174 625 96 649 40 947 286 248 968

17 256 777 96 649 73 770 866 248 968

Impairment loss amounting to USD 96 649 as at December 31, 2016 was basically attributable to chemicals & plas-
tic and telecommunications and gas customers.

56-3 Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities

December 31, 2016
Carrying 
amount 6 months or less 6-12  months 1-2 years 2-5 years More than   5 

years
USD USD USD USD USD USD

Secured bank loans & facilities 127 032 596 20 537 703 18 937 396 9 923 379 75 418 201 2 215 917
Unsecured bank facilities 68 590 054 47 790 054 3 800 000 7 600 000 9 400 000 -
Suppliers & subcontractors 14 250 675 13 950 624 300 051 - - -
Egyptian General Petroleum 
Corporation 33 653 948 33 653 948 - - - -

Bank overdraft 4 841 589 4 841 589 - - - -
248 368 862 120 773 918 23 037 447 17 523 379 84 818 201 2 215 917

December 31, 2015
Carrying 
amount 6 months or less 6-12  months 1-2 years 2-5 years More than   5 

years
USD USD USD USD USD USD

Secured bank loans & facilities 218 738 473 65 463 666 96 008 828 51 955 943 5 310 036 -
Unsecured bank facilities 121 117 248 94 717 248 5 600 000 7 600 000 13 200 000 -
Suppliers & subcontractors 83 576 453 77 877 808 5 698 645 - - -
Egyptian General Petroleum 
Corporation 35 345 247 14 634 384 20 710 863 - - -

Bank overdraft 42 735 150 25 728 341 17 006 809 - - -
501 512 571 278 421 447 145 025 145 59 555 943 18 510 036 -

56-4 Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:

December 31, 2016
USD L.E K.W.D EURO GBP

Description
Cash at banks & on hand 211 493 503 567 232 819 - 1 147 683 4 089
Held to maturity financial assets 92 333 158 526 308 919 - - -
Investment in treasury bills - 236 821 292 - - -
Debtors 10 089 565 175 413 629 - 139 -
Due from Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation - 27 152 457 - - -
Trade & notes receivables 2 270 123 360 465 597 - 406 646 -
Bank overdraft (4 785 212) - - (58 836) -
Secured bank loans (121 166 075) (112 461 200) - - -
Unsecured bank facilities (53 616 770) (287 037 852) - - -
Due to Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation - (645 146 187) - - -
Trade payables (11 518 638) (52 207 152) - (9 037) -
Creditors (13 015 997) (549 002 607) (1 938) (90 000) -
Other long-term liabilities - (229 353) - - -
Net exposure 112 083 657 247 310 362 (1 938) 1 396 595 4 089
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December 31, 2015
USD L.E K.W.D EURO GBP

Description
Cash at banks & on hand 279 982 264 905 279 631 - 1 061 782 51 814
Investments in treasury bills - - - - -
Debtors 89 494 905 385 544 321 - - 600
Due from Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 18 063 110 602 195 - - -
Trade & notes receivables 42 954 904 208 179 355 - 249 267 -
Bank overdraft (42 620 426) - - (102 414) -
Secured bank loans (278 245 731) (70 637 166) - - -
Unsecured bank facilities ( 41 742 585) ( 84 924 621) - - -
Due to Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (61 299) ( 375 339 392) - - -
Trade payables (80 432 306) (22 613 639) - (  35 380) (142 740)
Creditors (140 383 799) (508 052 761) (106 568) (54 928) -
Other long-term liabilities (1 065) ( 6 521 726) - - -
Net exposure (171 037 075) 541 516 197 ( 106 568) 1 118 327 (90 326) 

The following exchange rates applied during the year:
Average exchange rate during 

the year ended Spot rate

31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015
L.E 14.44 7.67 19.17 7.82
K.D 0.30352 0.3035 0.30655 0.3040
EURO 0.93695 0.9148 0.9582 0.9157
GBP 0.74695 0.6755 0.8174 0.6765
SDG 3.6762 3.67249 3.68 3.67249

56-5 Interest rate risk
At the consolidated financial statements the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing-financial 
instruments was:

Carrying amount
31/12/2016 31/12/2015

USD USD
Fixed rate instruments 
Financial liabilities 3 671 408 6 526 901

3 671 408 6 526 901
Variable rate instruments
Financial liabilities 191 951 242 333 328 820

191 951 242 333 328 820

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through consolidated 
profit or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a 
fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the consolidated financial statements 
date would not impact the consolidated profit or loss.

56-6 Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are as follow:

31/12/2016 31/12/2015
Carrying 
Amount

Fair value Carrying 
Amount

Fair value

USD USD USD USD
Available for sale investments 116 953 348 116 953 348 115 930 389 115 930 389
Held to maturity financial assets 119 787 978 119 787 978 - -
Due from Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation 1 416 404 1 416 404 7 324 260 7 324 260
Debtors 18 846 649 18 846 649 105 874 520 105 874 520
Cash and cash equivalents 242 186 165 242 186 165 396 867 046 396 867 046
Investments in treasury bills 12 353 745 12 353 745 6 044 646 6 044 646
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 159 821 15 159 821 112 495 674 112 495 674
Trade receivables 21 463 402 21 463 402 69 569 490 69 569 490
Secured bank loans (127 032 596) (127 032 596) (218 738 473) (218 738 473)
Unsecured bank facilities (68 590 054) (68 590 054) (121 117 248) (121 117 248)
Suppliers & subcontractors (14 250 675) (14 250 675) (83 576 453) (83 576 453)
Due to Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (33 653 948) (33 653 948) (35 345 247) (35 345 247)
Creditors (65 433 059) (65 433 059) (135 253 069) (135 253 069)
Bank overdraft (4 841 589) (4 841 589) (42 735 150) (42 735 150)
Other long-term liabilities (372 908) (372 908) (  833 980) (  833 980)

233 992 683 233 992 683 176 506 405 176 506 405

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in note No. (2) above.

57- Capital commitments
Total capital commitments amounted to USD 36 330 as at December 31, 2016 represented in the amount of contri-
butions in long – term investments which have not been requested to be paid till the consolidated balance sheet 
date (2015: USD 8 353 244)

58- Contingent liabilitiess 
In addition to amounts provided for in the consolidated balance sheet, there are contingent liabilities as at Decem-
ber 31, 2016 totaled USD 16.381 million (2015: USD 37.547 million) represented in the following:

•	 Uncovered letters of credit amounting to USD 11 815 209 (2015: USD 19 379 247).

•	 Letters of guarantee issued by banks on the account of the Group and in favor of others amounting to USD 4 565 957 
(2015: USD 18 167 812).

•	 Due to the delay in the execution of the contract concluded between one of the subsidiaries and one of its custom-
ers on October 12, 2009 the customer filed a lawsuit against the Company claiming for a compensation due to the 
said delay and subject matter is still considered before the court. The court issued in ruling to the effect of referring 
the lawsuit again to the Experts office and a session to consider the said lawsuit was determined to be held on June 
18, 2014 then it was postponed several times till March 2, 2017, Based on the legal advisor’s opinion, it is probable 
that the court shall issue its judgment in favor of the Company, in addition the claim of the customer to amend the 
contract value in proportion with the actual cost of the said project.

59- Tax status 
The following is a summary of the tax position  of the Company:

•	 The Company enjoyed a tax exemption for 5 years according to Investment Law No. 8 of 1997 and ended on Decem-
ber 31, 2003.

•	 Tax inspection for corporate profit tax from inception till 2004 was carried out and the resulting tax differences were 
settled.
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•	 Years from 2005 till 2008 The Company’s records were not requested for inspection within the determined sample by 
the Tax Authority till authorizing of these financial statements for issuance.

•	 2009 is currently inspected. 
•	 Years from 2010 till 2015 The Company’s records were not requested for inspection within the determined sample by 

the Tax Authority till authorizing of these financial statements for issuance.
•	 The annual tax returns are submitted on due date according to the provisions of Law No. 91 of 2005. 

Salary tax 

•	 The tax inspection for salary tax for the period from inception till 2006 was carried out and the final assessment was 
determined and resulting differences were settled.

•	 The tax inspection for years from 2007 till 2013 was carried out and the final assessment was made and the Company 
settled the resulting differences.

•	 The tax inspection for years 2014 and 2015 is currently in process.
•	 Monthly withheld taxes are settled on due dates.

Stamp tax
•	 Inspection for the stamp tax for the period from the beginning of activity till 31/7/2006 was carried out and the final 

assessment was made and the Company settled the resulting differences.
•	 The due tax are settled on due dates.

Property tax
The survey of the Group’s properties has not been carried out by the tax Enumeration and Assessment Committee yet.

60- Comparative figures

Some comparative figures were reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.  Items affected by reclas-
sification in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

USD
Decrease in debtors and other debit balances 25 390 280
Decrease in due from Egyptian General  Petroleum Corporation 6 807 842
Decrease in due to Egyptian General  Petroleum Corporation 32 209 523
Decrease in due from Egyptian General  Petroleum Corporation – non-current portion 11 401
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